
CENTER FOR THE STUDY OF DEMOCRACY

A N N U A L   R E P O R T   1 9 9 9



CENTER FOR THE STUDY OF DEMOCRACY
1999 ANNUAL REPORT



Drawing: Anri Koulev

© Center for the Study of Democracy, 2000
1, Lazar Stanev St., 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria



3

Center for the Study of Democracy

Founded in late 1989, the Center for the Study of Democracy (CSD) is an interdisci-
plinary public policy institute dedicated to the values of democracy and market 
economy. CSD is a non-partisan, independent organization fostering the reform
process in Bulgaria through impact on policy and civil society.

CSD objectives are:

• to provide an enhanced institutional and policy capacity for a successful European
integration process;

• to promote institutional reform and the practical implementation of democratic
values in legal and economic practice;

• to monitor public attitudes and serve as a watchdog of the institutional reform
process in the country;

• to strengthen the institutional and management capacity of NGOs in Bulgaria, and
reform the legal framework for their operation.

CSD encourages an open dialogue between scholars and policy makers and promotes
public-private coalition building. As a full-service think tank, the Center achieves its
objectives through policy research, process monitoring, drafting of legislation, dis-
semination and advocacy activities, building partnerships, local and international
networks.

Building Bridges between Scholars and Policy Makers
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Building on almost a decade of assisting domestic reforms, in 1999 CSD started a
transformation process turning it into a regional focal point for socio-economic
analysis and policy advice in Southeast Europe (SEE). There are three building
blocks in this process:

Human Capital Dimension. CSD has been pooling together a critical mass of
professionals in the area of socio-economic analysis capable of addressing
complex research tasks concerning the development of the region as a
whole. CSD will place a special emphasis on the professional advance-
ment of young researchers, which would ensure a smooth transition
between different generations of experts.

Merging Analytical Capacity with IT. CSD, in cooperation with its partner
organization in this area – the Applied Research and Communications
Fund - has been upgrading its communication infrastructure ensuring an
easy access to the global information resources, and refocusing its research
efforts to address the problems of the emerging Internet economy. CSD’s
understanding of this topic is that the rules of this new economy could be
utilized to accelerate the socio-economic development of SEE countries
and allow their successful integration into the European social and 
economic fabric.

Networking Capabilities. In 1999 CSD has been working towards the creation
of a network of socio-economic research centers in SEE which will work in
close cooperation, coordinate research agendas, exchange experts and staff
and be involved — either bilaterally or multilaterally — in the analysis of
crucial development problems confronting their countries.

ESTABLISHING ALLIANCES FOR TRANSITION

CSD was established at a time when hopes for a radical break with the communist
past were running high. Soon it became clear that the transition will take both time
and vision.

The desired result was not just public policy reform but a fundamental institution-
al change in society, politics and economy. Traditional approaches were, therefore,
inadequate. In a context of profound transformation of institutions and attitudes, it
was necessary to find mechanisms that will help root out vested interests and
ensure public support. Building unusual alliances turned out to be one of them,
probably the most successful one. 

A society in transition needs unconventional mechanisms to reform itself – after all,
it is old convention that has to be transformed. Thus CSD’s “building bridges” mis-
sion emerged as a natural consequence of an organization whose independence and
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capacity were widely recognized. When back in 1997 discussions began with local
and international partners, notably USAID-Bulgaria, about the possibility of launch-
ing an anti-corruption initiative in Bulgaria, CSD decided to look back on the most
successful models of work it had employed thus far. Even a cursory review showed
that reform issues were tackled most effectively when the Center had managed to
bring together the key supporters of reform – institutions, persons, media. 

Made possible by CSD’s political, institutional and financial independence, this
mediating role soon brought widespread recognition. The ease with which Coalition
2000 took off the ground confirmed that there had been a pressing need for a 
mediator, a “neutral ground” where the institutions of the executive, legislative and 
judicial powers, the private sector and civil society could meet and work out joint
solutions. The Coalition became the institutionalization of an approach which CSD
had been testing and applying since it was established at the end of 1989. 

1999 was the year during which almost 10 years of experience in building partner-
ships for reform came to real fruition. Already Secretariat to a major collaborative
effort – Coalition 2000 – last year the Center applied this reform model successfully
in two other areas – judicial reform and corporate governance. In both cases, the
Center, through years of collaboration with Bulgaria’s leading policy makers and
experts, managed to involve the key stakeholders in those sectors. 

Sofia, February 2000 Dr. Ognian Shentov
CSD President



9

Part One
Program Reviews





I. Between Two Policy Forums

Almost two years in existence now,
Coalition 2000 (www.online.bg/coali-
tion2000) has acquired universal recog-
nition as an innovative anti-corruption
initiative both in Bulgaria and inter-
nationally. In the year following the first
Policy Forum, the Anti-Corruption
Action Plan gained credit as a docu-
ment, which was often referred to in
Bulgaria and used in other countries as
a model for mapping out national anti-
corruption priorities. In the words of
George Soros, the Bulgarian anti-cor-
ruption plan is the most comprehensive
and ambitious document of its kind in
post-communist societies.

The key event in the  activities of
Coalition 2000 in 1999 was the second
meeting of the Policy Forum, which was 

held in Sofia on December 13. While the
first meeting in November 1998 was
devoted to endorsing the Anti-
Corruption Action Plan of Coalition
2000, in December the members came
together to evaluate the anti-corruption
progress in Bulgaria and to chart the
period to come. 

One year after the endorsement of the
Anti-Corruption Action Plan, the
Coalition presented a Corruption
Assessment Report (CAR) for Bulgaria
to the second Forum meeting. CAR
was a pioneering attempt to provide an
overview of the relevant developments
in the areas identified by the Action
Plan. The document also puts the issues
of corruption and anti-corruption 
initiatives in the overall context of  the
democratic reform priorities of the
country.

11

The Coalition 2000 Process

Ms. Ekaterina Mihailova, Deputy Chair of the Parliament’s Anti-Corruption Committee, 
US Ambassador Richard Miles (middle) and CSD President Dr. Ognian Shentov at the Second
Annual Meeting of the Coalition 2000 Policy Forum.
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Whereas in early 1999 the subject of
corruption was the natural monopoly
of the political opposition and of the
critically inclined media, by the end of
the year the debate has come to involve
basic structures of civil society, all the
leading media, the institutions of the
executive, legislative and the judiciary.

Corruption Assessment Report -
1999

The road from theoretical concept to
social practice required a mechanism of
cooperation among the coalition part-
ners and a number  of specific initiatives
for translating goals into results. In this
respect, Coalition 2000 was able to 
establish regular working contacts with
experts and representatives of state
institutions, which helped broaden the
scope of consultations not only within
the Coalition 2000 activities, but also in
the process of general political decision-
making reflecting on the corruption 
situation in this country.

The Steering Committee, generally
supervising the initiative, proved an
effective instrument for exchange of
opinions and formulation of common
positions by the representatives of civil
society organizations and state institu-
tions. The Committee was enlarged last
year to include representatives of TI-
Bulgaria, the Foundation for Local
Government Reform and two trade
union organizations: the Confederation
of Independent Trade Unions in
Bulgaria and the “Podkrepa” Labor
Confederation. It functioned as a work-
ing body not only in the context of 
regular meetings, but also through daily
contacts and informal consultations
between the Secretariat and its 
members.

To a varying extent and in different
forms representatives of state institu-

tions, political parties and public organ-
izations were associated with the
Coalition’s activity and contributed to
its implementation. In this sense, the
impact of the Policy Forum as an institu-
tion of Coalition 2000 went beyond the
endorsement of the  Anti-Corruption
Action Plan and the Corruption
Assessment Report and  became the
embodiment of the coalition idea on a
national scale. On the other hand, the
initial expectations for a stronger com-
mitment on the part of the government
to the anti-corruption priorities outlined
in the Anti-Corruption Action Plan were
not justified, which weakened the 
motivation to address the problem
among public officials.

A significant part of the Coalition efforts
in 1999 was focused on promoting
changes to the regulatory framework
which favored the curbing of corrup-
tion. As a Secretariat of the Coalition,
CSD led the effort in drafting the law on
the ombudsman institution in Bulgaria.
An important linkage was made with
the reforms in another key sector – the
judiciary (see Law Program for further
details).

II. Clean Future Public Awareness
Campaign

The “Clean Future” campaign included
a number of activities and public events
aimed at promoting the public standing
of the initiative, defining target groups,
formulating and producing specific
messages and ideas, selecting forms and
instruments of communication. Experts
with different backgrounds were
involved in this process.

The goal of “Clean Future” is to foster
greater public intolerance of corruption.
This includes transforming prevalent
attitudes, creating proper civic motiva-
tion, establishing an organizational
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structure for social action, ensuring a
sustained process of social change, etc.
The public awareness campaign
involved non-governmental organiza-
tions, representatives of state institu-
tions and independent experts.

• In April 1999, CSD, as Secretariat of
the Coalition, held a competition for
local partners of the Coalition  under
the Small Grants Program. As a
result, pilot projects of 13 NGOs,
based in different cities throughout
the country, were supported. The
pilot stage of the Coalition’s local
projects (April – July 1999) enabled
monitoring of corrupt practices at the
local level and testing of various anti-
corruption initiatives aimed at trans-
parency and openness of local 
government. A second round of small
grants was awarded in October 1999
and their implementation continues
in the year 2000.

• The public awareness campaign 
involved the use of various anti-cor
ruption instruments and practices:
local (municipal or regional) councils
for counteracting corruption, tele-
phone hotlines, citizen reception
offices and mailboxes for citizens’
complaints and alerts, round tables,
public forums and press conferences,
anti-corruption articles in the
local/regional press, broadcasts in the
electronic media, etc.

• The Secretariat of Coalition 2000 at
CSD coordinated the production of
appropriate promotion materials: the
design of a Coalition 2000 logo and the
printing of two posters which were
widely disseminated throughout 
the country. Several videos were 
produced after an extensive process
of script selection and focus group
pre-testing. A campaign song was
also written and produced.

The Public Awareness Campaign in Figures 

Anti-corruption awareness days 10

Public forums 2

National working meetings/seminars 3

Municipal round tables 28

Video films 6

Anti-corruption song/audio clip 2

Anti-corruption posters 2

Anti-corruption concert 1

Publications in the central and local press over 200

Broadcasts in the electronic media 87

In foreign TV programs 3

Foreign press publications 7

Clean Future quarterly newsletter three issues

Electronic newsletter monthly

Anti-corruption readers 4 published

Coalition 2000 web site
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The innovative approach of Coalition
2000 favors an open and transparent
implementation process rather than
simply joining a few actors in a formal
anti-corruption organization. This
approach is particularly relevant in the
political environment of SE Europe
where common formal institutions are
only just emerging. We recognize that
the public-private dialogue and part-
nership in preventing corruption
introduced by Coalition 2000 is
unique in the post-communist context.

Richard Miles,
Ambassador of the United States

to Bulgaria

III. International Activities

The international aspects of Coalition
2000 activities developed along several
lines:

a) Dissemination of information among
the international community about
the development of corruption and
anti-corruption measures in Bulgaria.
The purpose was for the international
community, and particularly the
international organizations represent-
ed in Bulgaria, to obtain an accurate
idea of the corruption spread in this
country and the anti-corruption 
initiatives of public and private 
institutions, including Coalition 2000.

b)Coordination of the efforts of
Coalition 2000 with those of the inter-
national organizations implementing
anti-corruption programs in Bulgaria.
In this respect, active cooperation was
maintained with the Council of
Europe, the United Nations
Development Program, the World
Bank, the European Union, and the
Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development.

Particularly helpful was the coopera-
tion with the Information Centre on
the Council of Europe in Sofia which
is represented at the Steering
Committee of the Coalition.

c) Cooperation with non-government
organizations from countries neigh-
boring on Bulgaria. This cooperation
was initiated by the Coalition in view
of the importance of the regional
aspects of corruption, especially in the
context of enforcement of the Stability
Pact for South-East Europe.

d)Part of the message promoted
through the “Clean Future” public
awareness campaign focused on the
need to involve Bulgaria in the mech-
anism of exchange and cooperation
with international organizations and
other foreign institutions in the fight
against corruption. Coalition 2000
helped raise public awareness of the
importance of this fact by publishing
a collection of international anti-cor-
ruption acts, to which Bulgaria is a
signatory, by involving representa-
tives of foreign organizations in
Coalition 2000 events, by disseminat-
ing information about the internation-
al anti-corruption standards and the
impact of international cooperation in
this field.

The experience of Coalition 2000 in con-
ducting joint anti-corruption initiatives
combining the efforts of NGOs and gov-
ernmental organizations and institu-
tions, as well as in developing the
methodology of the Corruption Indexes
was highly praised and discussed at a
number of international forums. At the
same time, the Coalition could benefit
from the exchange of experience with
similar initiatives and anti-corruption
practices implemented in other parts of
the world. Coalition 2000 participated in
the following international forums in
1999:



• Coalition 2000 was presented as a
model initiative in the fight against
corruption in Eastern Europe at a
global conference on corruption held
in Washington D. C. on February 22-
23, 1999. The conference under the
title Fighting Corruption in
Developing Countries and Emerging
Economies: The Role of the Private
Sector brought together anti-cor-
ruption experts from around the
world to compare experiences, foster
debate, and generate a private sector
action plan geared towards the 21st
Century.

• In June, Coalition 2000 organized an
international conference on Coalition
Building and Monitoring to Counter
Corruption: Strategies and Impact in
the Countries of Central and Eastern
Europe, which was held in Varna,
Bulgaria.

• Within the framework of the anti-cor-
ruption conference organized by the
Constitutional and Legal Policy
Institute of the Open Society Institute 

in Budapest in June, Coalition 2000
presented the Clean Future public
awareness campaign.

• In October, representatives of
Coalition 2000 shared their experience
at the world anti-corruption confer-
ence, held in Durban, South Africa
and attended by more than 1,600 par-
ticipants.

• Best practices in combating corrup-
tion were presented at the interna-
tional conference held in Milan in
November, organized by the
International Scientific and Profes-
sional Advisory Council of the UN
Crime Prevention and Criminal
Justice Program. In the mean time,
Coalition 2000 continued its efforts at
improving the interaction with other
initiatives on a regional and interna-
tional level.

• Coalition 2000 joined the Anti-
Corruption Network of Transition
Economies, implemented under the
auspices of OECD.

15
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The major aspects of the work of the
Economic Program in 1999 could be
summarized in the following categories:

I. Facilitating the implementation of
modern corporate governance princi-
ples: Corporate Governance Initiative
for Bulgaria

The Corporate Governance Initiative
(CGI) was officially launched in April
1999. CGI is a coalition of Bulgarian
NGOs aimed at facilitating the adoption
of relevant corporate governance stan-
dards and procedures that would
ensure transparency and accountability
in the economy. The coalition was estab-
lished by the Association of Industrial
Capital, Association of Voluntary
Pension Funds, Center for Economic
Development, Investors’ Union,
Securities Holders Association and CSD
(www.csd.bg/cgi). The activities of the
CGI in the second half of 1999 were sup-

ported by CIPE and were focused on the
development and the public endorse-
ment of a Policy Recommendation
Paper on corporate governance. 

Shortly after the official launch of the
CGI, a Task Force of ten experts from
state institutions and NGOs was formed
to draft the Policy Recommendation
Paper. The main objective of this docu-
ment was to outline a consistent set of
policy and legislative measures (an
action agenda) that would help develop
the institutional and market infrastruc-
ture of corporate governance in
Bulgaria. 

The next step in the CGI process was a
Policy Workshop. Conducted on July
13 at CSD, it brought together approxi-
mately 50 participants at expert level
(members of the CGI Steering
Committee, the CGI Task Force,
Bulgarian and foreign experts, and rep-

Economic Program

1999 Highlights

The major thematic priorities that dominated the work of the Economic
Program in 1999 were:

• Continuation of CSD’s efforts for the implementation of a long-term pro-
gram to promote the core principles of corporate governance in Bulgaria.
The program has evolved through the last couple of years and the
Corporate Governance Initiative was officially launched in the beginning of
1999. Its main component was a project on “Establishing Corporate
Governance in an Emerging Market: Bulgaria”, supported by the Center for
International Private Enterprise (CIPE), Washington D.C.

• Exploring the effects on social policy of the implementation of the Currency
Board in Bulgaria. This effort was based on the “Social Implications of the
Introduction of the Currency Board in Bulgaria” Project, implemented with
the financial support of SOCO program of the Vienna Institute for Human
Sciences.



resentatives of state and international
institutions). The main function of the
Policy Workshop was to solicit expert
comments and suggestions on the cor-
porate governance development 
agenda and consider the specific view-
points of the major stakeholders. The
draft Policy Paper was presented 
by Professor Bistra Boeva, Member of
the Bulgarian National Securities 

Commission and Head of the CGI Task
Force. Workshop participants made a
lot of suggestions focused on the issue
of guaranteeing equal treatment to all
shareholders, the responsibilities and
motivation of boards, corporate gover-
nance problems of holding companies
(former privatization funds), and on the
management of the residual share of
state ownership. 
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Action Line 8.
Non-regulatory Mechanisms for Improving Corporate Governance

Background

The problems of corporate governance cannot be solved by only improving
the regulatory framework. Even in countries with highly developed corporate
governance and developed capital markets supported by good legislation and
long-time practice, some corporate governance problems are not solved by
law. This is done by means of social rules - professional, moral, ethical, etc.,
which, along with the regulatory framework, create common rules for conduct
of shareholders, creditors and managers of a company and other interested
parties.

Objectives

Improve corporate governance through energetic action of nongovernmental
organizations and professional associations of shareholders and managers.

Recommendations

Organizations supporting the present initiative (among them the Union of
Investors, the Association of Securities Holders, the Association of Industrial
Capital, the Bulgarian Economic Chamber, the Bulgarian Stock Exchange-
Sofia, the Bulgarian National Securities Commission, etc.) should, either 
jointly or separately, carry out proper campaigns among their members to
explain the problems of corporate governance and methods for their solution.
Such campaigns might include publication and dissemination of proper 
materials, organization of a series of seminars.
Elaboration and adoption by business associations of “codes of conduct”,
rules and procedures related to corporate governance.
Dissemination of information on successful practical initiatives at joint-stock
company level.

Corporate Governance Initiative for Bulgaria: 
Policy Recommendation Paper 
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The CGI Policy Forum was conducted
on November 30, 1999. More than 60
representatives of public and private
institutions, international organiza-
tions, businessmen, academicians and 
journalists attended the Forum. The
final version of the Policy
Recommendation Paper on corporate
governance was presented and publicly
adopted at the Forum, which reflected
the consensus reached among the 
principal institutions and stakeholders.

Many of the recommendations, outlined
in the Policy Paper, were later incorpo-
rated in the Law on Securities adopted
by the National Assembly in December.
Representatives of the international
investment community showed 
considerable interest in the corporate
governance problems in Bulgaria.
Foreign participants voiced their 

support for the Corporate Governance
Initiative and made valuable 
suggestions concerning the forthcoming
implementation of the Policy Paper.

At the First Investment Forum for
Southeastern Europe, October 19-20,
1999 in Sofia, CGI was invited to partic-
ipate in the plenary session on “State
and Corporate Governance. Coopera-
tion between Public and Private Sector.”
CGI members presented the paper
“Corporate Governance and Control in
Joint-Stock Companies in Bulgaria” and
distributed it in 500 copies among the
Investment Forum participants. 

In order to widely disseminate the CGI
findings and recommendations CSD
drafted a Glossary of Terms on Corpo-
rate Governance and Capital Markets. It
contains approximately 300 entries and 

Speakers at the Forum (left to right): Mr. Douglas Dryden, Executive Director and Member of the
Board of Directors, United Bulgarian Bank; Dr. George Prohaski, Chairman, Bulgarian Stock
Exchange, and Director of the Center for Economic Development; Mr. Jean-Marc Peterschmitt,
Director, Bulgaria, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development; Mr. Alexander Bozhkov,
Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Industry; CSD President Dr. Ognian Shentov; Prof. Bistra
Boeva, Member of the Bulgarian National Securities Commission, and Mr. Stoyo Nedin, President,
Securities Holders Association. 



was reviewed by leading Bulgarian
experts in the field. CGI members also
prepared a set of training materials to be
used during lectures and specialized
seminars on corporate governance at
the University of National and World
Economy (Sofia), the Sofia University
Economic Department and the Varna
Economic University. The main topics to
be discussed at the seminars with 
students included equal treatment of
shareholders; protection of share-
holders’ rights; disclosure of informa-
tion; board responsibilities; capital 
market and corporate governance; 
regulations on residual state ownership.

II. Social Consequences of the
Implementation of the Currency Board
in Bulgaria

The major goal of this one-year project
implemented jointly with the
Sociological Program of CSD (Vitosha
Research) was to develop a system of
indicators to assess the impact of the
Currency Board on the social protection
of the population. The research
approach included several components:
1) identifying the specific implications
of the Currency Board on the social pro-
tection system by analyzing the existing
statistical and regulatory information
for the past ten years; 2) testing the find-
ings and working hypotheses of the pre-
liminary analysis by submitting them
for discussion at public events and
workshops dedicated to this topic, and
3) exploring expert opinions using focus
groups as an analytic tool; 4) using a
national representative survey in order
to quantitatively estimate the specific
impacts of the currency board.

The findings of the project helped iden-
tify the most vulnerable social groups
for whom rigid financial discipline and
government spending reduction had
meant declined personal incomes and

lower living standards (long-term
unemployed, low-income pensioners,
single parent and extended families).
Under a currency board, the ways for
improving of the social status of the
population should be found only within
the available, limited financial
resources. There is a need for more
effective distribution of the available
funds, strict adherence to the principles
of social solidarity and balance between
the social security contributions and the
benefits received. The introduction of
the currency board in Bulgaria has only
speeded up the delayed reform of the
social sector and helped adjust it to the
modern standards. 

The final report prepared under the
project was presented at the conference
“Social Consequences of the Currency
Board” (June 24, 1999). The conference
initiated a broad public discussion
focused on the research finding and
conclusions. Conference participants
recognized the practical value of the
study for the adjustment of social
reforms to the new economic realities in
Bulgaria.

III. International Business Club
Meetings

Since its establishment in 1993, the
International Business Club (IBC) has
provided opportunities for high-rank-
ing public officials and policy makers to
meet senior foreign diplomats, trade
envoys and representatives of the inter-
national business community. Exchange
of views and comments on topical 
political and economic issues took place
during the four meetings IBC organized
in 1999:

• March 16, 1999. Guest speakers were
Mr. Stefan Sofianski, Mayor of Sofia
and Mr. Antonio Vigilante, Resident
Coordinator, United Nations, on

19
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Priority Investment Projects of Sofia
Municipality.

• May 27, 1999. Guest speakers were
Mr. Martin Zaimov, Deputy Governor
of the Bulgarian National Bank and
Mr. Stoyan Alexandrov, Chairman,
Association of Commercial Banks, on
the Denomination of the Bulgarian Lev
and its Impact on the Economic
Development of the Country.

• July 9, 1999. Guest speakers were 

Mr. Ventsislav Varbanov, Minister of 
Agriculture, Forests and Land Reform
and Mr. John Grant, Mission Director
USAID on the Main Priorities of Land
Reform and Agricultural Development in
Bulgaria.

• November 30, 1999. Guest speakers
were Mr. Mario Tagarinski, Minister
of Public Administration and Mr.
Richard Stagg, Ambassador of the
UK, on the Reform in the Public
Administration in Bulgaria.

From left: Mr. Ventsislav Varbanov, Minister of Agriculture, Forests and Land Reform at the
International Business Club.



IV. Publication of the CSD Monitor

In 1999 two issues of the CSD Monitor
were published in English and
Bulgarian. The Monitor covered all
major CSD activities and events:
research and advocacy in the field of 
corporate governance, establishment of
the Legal Reform Initiative, drafting leg-
islation on e-commerce and electronic
signature, accession to European Union,
book donation, etc. The publication was
widely distributed to Members of
Parliament, government officials,
media, municipalities and international
donors.
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In 1999, the Law Program of CSD
focused on promoting judicial reform
in Bulgaria and on contributing to leg-
islative reform. The achievements on
these main priorities of the Law
Program in 1999 could be summarized
as follows:

• A Judicial Reform Initiative, aimed at
developing a Program for Judicial
Reform (PJR) in Bulgaria, started in
1999. CSD’s Law Program became its
Secretariat and driving force from the
very beginning. The PJR is based on a
set of political and legislative meas-
ures, assisting the legal and institu-
tional infrastructure of the judiciary
and providing assistance to its imple-
mentation.

• A Law on People’s Defender was
drafted by an expert task force set up
by the Program. The draft law aims at
encouraging democratic institutions,
and setting effective procedures for
administration and protection of
human rights. A concept paper on the
subject and the draft Law were 
broadly discussed with Bulgarian and
foreign experts and politicians.

• A new subject field was added to the
Program’s agenda – electronic com-
merce. The Program researched the
legal aspects of e-commerce and start-
ed drafting new legislation recogniz-
ing the legal validity of the electronic
documents and signatures in order to
provide for security and trust in open
networks, to ensure that commerce is
conducted electronically. 

• A two-year project on “General and
Financial Management of NGOs”
aimed at introducing best European 

NGOs management practices, was
completed successfully.

• A series of pioneering public hearings
with the National Assembly were
organized by the Program in the
framework of the project “Citizen
Participation, Public Hearings and the
Development of Improved Public
Policy in Bulgaria”. The project aimed
at improving the legislative process
and promoting the dialogue between
the public and private sector.

Throughout the year the Program con-
tributed to further development of
cooperation between the non-govern-
mental and governmental sectors. The
Program team was able to strengthen
interaction within a highly qualified
group of non-resident experts and con-
sultants committed to supporting the
judicial and legislative reform process.
Two research volumes– “E-commerce
and Electronic Signature: Legal
Aspects” and “The Ombudsman
Institution: Concept Paper, Draft Law
and Foreign Legislation“, which started
to develop in 1999 and will assist 
legislators, politicians and experts. 

I. Judicial Reform

Judicial Reform Initiative: an example
of practical assistance to reforms

The Judicial Reform Initiative for
Bulgaria (JRI) was launched in
February and officially announced in
March 1999. It consolidated the efforts
of leading not-for-profit organizations,
representatives of government

Law Program



institutions and experts on the model
of Coalition 2000, for developing a
Program for Judicial Reform in
Bulgaria. The initiating organiza-
tions of the JRI were the Association of
Judges in Bulgaria, the Center for the
Study of Democracy, the Chamber of
Investigators in Bulgaria, the
European Network of Women in
Police – Bulgaria, the Legal Initiative
for Training and Development
(PIOR), the Legal Interaction
Alliance, the Modern Criminal Justice
Foundation, and Union of Bulgarian
Jurists. Particular attention was paid
to the involvement of representatives
of the judiciary in the PJR develop-
ment phase.

The PJR drafting process

The major objective of this process was
to draft a consensus document based on
a set of political and legislative meas-
ures to assist the legal and institutional
infrastructure of the judicial system and
its long-term implementation. The
process was designed also to achieve the
following:

• Identify areas in which there is a need
to improve procedural legislation and
legislation applicable to the establish-
ment of a modern court administra-
tion, as well as acceleration of legal
proceedings. 

• Initiate a broad public debate on the
issues of judicial reform, its nature
and objectives, and set out conditions
for its greater openness and trans-
parency. 

• Set out the conditions under which
the judiciary could better absorb
assistance from the European Union,
as well as from other international
organizations and donors. 

• Provide the policy and legislative
framework for the introduction of
internal control mechanisms to com-
bat corruption and abuse of power. 

• Work out a mechanism for enhancing
the professional skills of those work-
ing in the court administration. 

In a number of workshops, interactive
discussions and open consultations,
the stakeholders of the Judicial Reform
Process unanimously identified the
two main priorities of the judicial
reform: 
• Improving the legal education and

training of magistrates, and 
• Streamlining court administration. 
In this respect, the structure of this
program has evolved with due consid-
eration of the priorities set for the
development of the legal foundation of
the reform process.

Program for Judicial Reform

Stage one: Building the JRI infrastructure 

A Steering Committee for managing
and coordinating the activities of the
Initiative, formed by representatives of
the JRI initiating organizations and
other major stakeholders, legislative,
executive and judiciary, NGOs and
lawyers was set up. Task forces were
also convened in the main areas of
reform - Civil Law (incl. Commercial
Law) and Procedure, Penal Law and
Procedure, Administrative Law and
Procedure, Court Administration,
Education and Training of Magistrates,
Opening of the Judiciary to Society. For
the purpose of providing an ongoing
support to the Steering Committee, the
CSD Law Program acted as JRI
Secretariat. The Secretariat provided the
day-to-day operational management
and assistance, logistical support to the
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highlighted by Ms. Ekaterina
Mihailova, Deputy Chair of the Parlia-
ment’s Anti-Corruption Committee. The
discussion focused on training of magis-
trates, enhancing the efficiency of the
court administration, and improving of
the legal framework of reform.
Mr. Claes Eklundh, Chief Parliamentary
Ombudsman of Sweden was a special
guest at the Policy Workshop.
Mr. Eklundh presented the role of the
Ombudsman in controlling public
administration and in protecting civil
rights and freedoms, and focused on its
potential to exercise out-of-court control
in the new democracies.

The draft PJR was then published in
1000 copies and distributed to profes-
sional associations, state institutions,
the media, experts with the aim of solic-
iting their opinion and specific 
proposals for amendments. Copies were
also sent to the representatives of 
foreign agencies and international
organizations in Bulgaria.

A web page of the Judicial Reform
Initiative (www.csd.bg/jri) was devel-
oped by the LP which also includes
links to information about the
Initiative’s founding organizations. 

Stage four: Towards a final version of the
PJR 

Two reform priorities emerged as a
result of the discussions: training of
magistrates and court administration
reform. The text of the PJR was ac-
cordingly revised, in particular with the
assistance of World Bank experts, which
set the Initiative on the road of prepar-
ing its first Policy Forum. JRI started
preparation for the Forum at which the
Program for Judicial Reform in Bulgaria
will be presented for endorsement. The
Forum is scheduled for the first half of
2000. Following its endorsement, the
PJR will be widely distributed as a basis

for future concrete steps along its action
lines. 

International support and contacts

• The Delegation of the European
Commission in Bulgaria was instru-
mental in launching the Judicial
Reform Initiative. It provided support
for a number of its activities and
advice on the PJR drafting. 

• A number of international institutions
expressed their support to the
Initiative: the International
Development Law Institute (IDLI),
Rome; the World Bank; court experts
and magistrates from the Asser
Instituut in the Netherlands; the
Spanish Institution of People’s
Defender; the Chief Parliamentary
Ombudsman of Sweden; the
American Bar Association
(ABA/CEELI), the British Association
for Central and Eastern Europe
(BACEE), among others. 

II. Legislative Reform 

The CSD Law Program has long been
successfully involved in drafting key
pieces of legislation (NGOs draft Law,
Registered Pledges Act, draft Law on
People’s Defender, etc.). In 1999 the
efforts of the Law Program focused on
improving the quality of the legislative
process and legislation in general, and
on developing some draft laws in par-
ticular.

1. Improving the Quality of New
Legislation 

In 1999 the CSD Law Program contin-
ued its work on the project “Citizen
Participation, Public Hearings and
Development of Improved Public Policy in
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Bulgaria” launched at the end of 1998 in
order to improve the quality of legisla-
tion and to make the legislative process
more transparent through the incorpo-
ration of public hearings as a compo-
nent of the legislative process.

The model hearings and series of semi-
nars on topical issues of the legislative
agenda were organized jointly with the
National Assembly, the judiciary and
government agencies. The participants -
key legislators and legislative staff, aca-
demics and representatives of Bulgarian
NGOs - discussed proposed changes to
the legislation and were acquainted
with the democratic mechanisms in the
modern legislative process. 

• An introductory seminar in January
outlined public hearings as a parlia-
mentary practice and the importance
of various practices implemented in
the advanced democracies. British
parliamentary experience in involv-
ing NGOs and citizens in the legisla-
tive process was presented by Mr.
Robert Dunn, former Member of the
House of Commons and former
Minister of Education of UK. He
stressed the openness of the legisla-
tive committees to the public, the con-
sultations with different social groups
prior to submitting a new draft bill
and regulated lobbying that limits
corruption opportunities. 
Mr. Enrico Munos, Senator in the
Senate of the Spanish Parliament, pre-
sented the information phase in the
legislative process for assessing pub-
lic attitudes while preparing new leg-
islation or amendments, existing in
Spain. He pointed out the opportuni-
ty for public legislative initiative set
forth in a special law, and on the
established special institution - Public
Defender - that provides for a link
between citizens and administration.
Government officials, representatives
of the judiciary, of NGOs, Bulgarian

and foreign experts attended the sem-
inar.

• A discussion on introducing the
ombudsman institution to Bulgaria,
organized jointly with Coalition 2000,
took place at CSD on April 20. Special
guests were Mr. Antonio Rovira, First
Deputy to the People’s Defender of
Spain and Mr. Pasquale Ferraro,
Deputy Director of the International
Development Law Institute in Rome. 
The work of experts in determining
the powers and the functions of the
ombudsman institution in Bulgaria
was presented. Mr. Rovira outlined
the functions of the People’s Defender
in Spain and underlined that in order
to function successfully the institution
of the Ombudsman should be guaran-
teed political and financial independ-
ence. The participants emphasized on
the need for a further and more
detailed study of Spanish and other
countries’ successful legislative deci-
sions and practices in the field of
human and citizens’ rights.

• Draft amendments to the Commercial
Code were discussed at a public hear-
ing co-organized with the Ministry of
Justice in May. Representatives of the
executive and the judiciary, as well as
notaries, lawyers, journalists, univer-
sity professors and distinguished
commercial law experts attended the
discussion. The main ideas of the pro-
posed amendments were presented
by Ms. Maria Serkedjieva, Deputy
Minister of Justice. The discussion
focused on the harmonization of
Bulgarian legislation with EU Law as
well as on the practical needs of
Bulgarian companies and on the
requirements for improving publicity
and transparency in their activity that
will guarantee third parties’ interest.
Dr. Christa Jessel-Holst of the Max-
Plank Institut for Comparative and
International Law in Germany and



Dr. Hans-Joachim Vollrath, manager of
the Local Notary Chamber of Bavaria
took part in the seminar.

• The draft of a new Family Code was
the topic of a public hearing organ-
ized jointly with the Ministry of
Justice in June. Ms. Zlatka Rouseva,
Deputy Minister of Justice, presented
a general overview of the draft.
Experts who had worked on the draft
presented in detail the key issues –
new patrimonial relations between
the spouses (proposed regulation of
separate property and property based
on ante-nuptial contracts), child
adoption and child protection. MPs,
academics, judges, lawyers, family
law experts, representatives of NGOs
took part in the discussion. Two
Spanish experts shared their opinion
and experience - Dr. Francisco Welmo,
Law professor at the University of
Valladolid, and Dr. Maria Tereza
Crespo, Professor of psychology at
the same University - underlined the 

necessity to establish the institution of
an intermediary for settling the rela-
tions between the spouses and dis-
cussed the psychological aspects of 
divorce and separation of spouses.

• A public hearing on “The People’s
Defender of Civil Rights and Freedoms
and the Creation of Efficient Local and
Central Government Administration”
was held in Pleven in October. 
Participants included MPs, represen-
tatives of local administration and
non-governmental organizations, and
lawyers. Dr. Silvy Chernev, expert
with the CSD task force on the 
People’s Defender (Ombudsman)
draft law, presented the draft. 
The discussion emphasized on the
creation of new means for protection
of civil rights and freedoms, and
specifically the Ombudsman institu-
tion as a local intermediary between
the citizens and the municipal admin-
istration. Mr. Naiden Zelenogorski,
MP, stressed the need of establishing 
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Mr. Antonio Rovira, First Deputy of the People’s Defender in Spain (second from the right) speaking
at the public hearing in the National Assembly.
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a People’s Defender institution at the
local level, and particularly in the
municipality of Pleven as it could
shorten the distance between public
administration and citizens.

• A public hearing at the National
Assembly was organized by the CSD
and Parliamentary Committee on
Human Rights, Religion and Citizens’
Claims and Petitions. The draft Law
on the People’s Defender in Bulgaria
was discussed and evaluated posi-
tively. Recommendations and
remarks were made by the partici-
pants – members of Parliament and
its Committees on Legal Issues and
Legislation against Corruption,
Human Rights, Religion and Citizens’
Complains and Petitions, and Public
Health, Youth, and Sport. The foreign
guests – Mr. Rovira, First Deputy of
the People’s Defender in Spain and
Canadian experts Mr. Robardet, Mr.
Boyer and Mr. Dubrow - shared opin-
ions based on their experience in
establishing the Ombudsman institu-
tion. The members of the task force
drafting the law explained some of
the legislative proposals. 

• In May, CSD’s Law Program organ-
ized a visit for Bulgarian MPs and
experts to Spain within the public
hearings project. This visit reinforced
the results of the first project visit
November 1998. The program of the
visit allowed a small group of MPs
(Ms. Ekaterina Michailova and Mr.
Dimitar Abadzhiev), and law experts
to meet with EU politicians and leg-
islative staff, and to get acquainted
with various possibilities of citizen
participation in the legislative
process. The visit included meetings
with MPs at the Senate of the General
Cortes, meetings at the office of the
People’s Defender, Mr. Alvarez de
Miranda, and his First Deputy Mr.
Rovira, as well as a meeting at the

Center for Political and Constitutional
Studies.

As a result of the project, public hear-
ings have been accepted by the key
stakeholders as a regular parliamentary
practice and a useful method for promo-
tion of new ideas and democratic prac-
tices in legislation. 

2. E-commerce and Digital Signature:
Shaping the Regulatory Framework

“One of the basic goals for transition
to Information Society is the creation
of a legal and regulatory framework for
the provision of services, for living and
working in the new information envi-
ronment, harmonized with that of the
European Union”. 

Strategy for Information Society 
Development in the Republic of

Bulgaria 
Council of Ministers, October 1999

The Law Program’s work on e-com-
merce and digital signature started with
orientation meetings and consultations
in early 1999 with representatives of the
main stakeholders interested in the legal
regulation of the subject – business asso-
ciations, government regulatory bodies
and ministries. In parallel, the Law
Program researched the most important
international instruments already
adopted or in a process of preparation,
which envisage the use of alternatives to
paper-based methods of communica-
tions. The study also reviewed the inter-
national and European acts and propos-
als, as well as materials on foreign legal
regulations - USA, EC countries and
Latin America Acts, draft acts and
investigations.

A Task Force for the preparation of the
draft law and an Expert Council includ-
ing representatives from the stakehold-



ers, legal and IT experts were formed.
Following the initial expert effort, the
preparatory work and first draft of a
law on electronic commerce and digital
signature were presented at a workshop
at CSD in September by the drafters.
The logic and proper interpretation of
the draft law provisions were presented
in a comprehensive and pragmatic man-
ner. Expert Council members, represen-
tatives of the USAID – Washington, as
well as legal and IT experts took part in
the discussion. The participants made a
number of useful suggestions and 
recommendations related to the process
of drafting, the presented materials, and
the general framework of digital signa-
ture and e-commerce which benefited
the subsequent work of the CSD expert
team. All agreed that future work
should be aimed at coordinating the
efforts of the institutions and experts
involved.

A seminar on the issues of electronic
commerce and digital signature was
held in Velingrad in November.
Participants - members of the Expert
Council and of the Task Force, and IT
specialists – discussed the two draft
laws on e-commerce and on digital sig-
nature. The prevalent opinion in the dis-
cussions was to combine both drafts in
one. The team decided to develop the
texts further and combine it in a single
draft Law on Electronic Document and
Digital Signature.

Article 3
(1) Electronic document is an electron-
ic statement, recorded on magnetic,
optical or other carrier that allows its
reproduction.
(2) The written form of the document
is considered observed provided that
an electronic document has been pro-
duced.
…….

Article 15
(1) The digital signature is a trans-
formed electronic statement included, 
added or logically related to the origi-
nal electronic statement.
(2) The digital signature has the effect
of a legally valid signature.

Draft Law on the Electronic
Document and Digital Signature

The Law Program started developing a
publication on “E-commerce and Digital
Signature: Legal Aspects” which
includes the concept paper and the draft
law for Bulgaria, as well as internation-
al documents and foreign laws translat-
ed in Bulgarian.

3. Introducing the Ombudsman
Institution 

Drafting the Law on the People’s
Defender in Bulgaria 

In early 1998, the Law Program of CSD
began exploring the possibility of intro-
ducing an Ombudsman-type institution
at a national level to act as a complemen-
tary mechanism for monitoring and con-
trol over the public administration and
an out-of-court means of respecting and
restoring the rights of citizens violated
by the state. The establishment in
Bulgaria of such an institution restricting
corruption and the abuse of power also
became one of the key priorities of
Coalition 2000. Within the framework of
Coalition 2000, an expert group of the
CSD Law Program continued its
research and analysis of the existing legal
framework and the functioning of this
institution in a number of established
and new democracies. The laws on the
Ombudsman institution of Austria,
Denmark, Macedonia, Lithuania,
Poland, Hungary, Spain, the United
Kingdom, Romania, Sweden, Argentina
and Costa Rica were translated in
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Bulgarian. A concept paper developed
on the basis of this analysis, however,
takes into account the existing needs and
public attitudes, and political, legal and
constitutional realities in Bulgaria. It for-
mulated a set of recommendations for
the future introduction of the
Ombudsman, its status and role in the
country’s political and legal system, and
outlines the basic elements of its future
legal regulation. In April 1999, the Law
Program experts completed the first
draft law on the People’s Defender.

It would be very useful for every state,
pretending to be a democratic and con-
stitutional one, to create an ombuds-
man institution. The mission of this
institution is to guarantee the rule of
law and the individuals’ rights and
freedoms.

Claes Eklundh
Chief Parliamentary Ombudsman

of Sweden, Sofia, July 1, 1999

It is clear that the contributions of an
ombudsman to the development of a 
democratic society is manifold. In a nut-
shell, he does so by promoting accountabil-
ity, trans parency, respect for the rule of law, 
objectivity and impartiality in decision 
making, quality of service delivery, and 
democratic values in public administration.

Dr. Patrick Robardet
Director of Legal Affairs  and Research,

Office of the Public Protector
(Ombudsman), Quebec, Canada

(Comments on the Bulgarian Draft Law,
November 1999, Sofia)

Awareness Raising: Public discussions
of the draft Law
Meetings, public discussions and con-
sultations were held at different stages
of this process with Bulgarian and for-
eign experts, politicians, citizens, repre-
sentatives of NGOs and the parliamen-
tary Committee on Human Rights. The
more important ones included:

Claes Eklundh, Chief Parliamentary Ombudsman of Sweden.



• Meetings with Ambassador Michael
Sahlin, leader of a Swedish govern-
ment delegation, which visited
Bulgaria in January.

• Visit to Sofia in July by Mr. Claes
Eklundh, Chief Parliamentary
Ombudsman of Sweden, and meet-
ings with the Vice-President of the
Republic of Bulgaria Mr. Todor
Kavaldzhiev, with the Chair of the
National Assembly, Mr. Yordan
Sokolov and with the Chair of the
Supreme Administrative Court
Mr. Vladislav Slavov.

• Discussions with Spanish parliamen-
tarians and the People’s Defender of 
Spain, Mr. Alvares de Miranda, 
during a visit by Bulgarian MPs and
experts to Spain in May.

• Visits by the First Deputy of the
People’s Defender of Spain,
Mr. Antonio Rovira (in April and
November), and by Canadian experts
to Sofia in November, and meetings
with the Vice-President of the
Republic of Bulgaria Mr. Todor
Kavaldjiev, with the Chair of the
National Assembly Mr. Yordan
Sokolov and with the Chair of the
Supreme Administrative Court
Mr. Vladislav Slavov.

In addition, a series of meetings, semi-
nars and discussions on the draft law
were organized within the framework
of the public hearings project imple-
mented jointly by CSD and the
Santander Group of European universi-
ties.

The Concept Paper and the Draft Law
were published in 500 copies, and were
distributed among a wide range of
experts, governmental institutions and
non-governmental organizations with a
request for their opinion and recom-
mendations. The publication provoked

further discussions about the possibili-
ties and the procedure for introducing
the People’s Defender institution in
Bulgaria.

The idea of establishing the People’s
Defender in Bulgaria is now supported
by the Vice President of the Republic, by
the Chair of the National Assembly,
members of Parliament, representatives
of the judiciary and the executive, the
local authorities, and human rights
NGOs.

III. Education

Since 1992, the Law Program has
become well-known for its legal train-
ing programs on legal reform and NGO
management, accounting, financial con-
trol and auditing. The Program identi-
fied the need for alternative forms of
education providing a method different
from the classic university models. The
tradition of providing practically orient-
ed programs continued in 1998 with the
implementation of a project on “General
and Financial Management of Not-for-
profit Organizations” in cooperation
with the Hellenic Management Associa-
tion (Athens), the Sofia University Re-
gional Distance Education Study Center,
and the Skopje University Law Faculty.

In 1999 the project was successfully
completed and the technique of distance
learning was piloted at the Sofia
University Faculty of Business
Administration. The pilot course was
targeted at professionals of civic organi-
zations, postgraduate students in busi-
ness administration, state officials, and
the general public.

The course quality and structure were
praised by the Sunderland University
(UK) experts appointed after a tender
among organizations specialized in
evaluation of DL education courses and
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CSD was nominated responsible for the
course dissemination.

The course is designed to foster stu-
dent independence in learning and the
case studies are particularly important
in this connection. The rationale for
media choice is convincing; the media
are accessible to the target groups; the
specifications are clear. The booklets
are clearly laid out and easy to use.
Support for students is carefully
designed and offers students a variety
of access routes.

Roger Lewis
Higher Education Evaluator

Higher Education Funding
Council for England

The textbook and a program for a DL
course on General and Financial
Management of Public and Private Not-
for-profit Entities were elaborated by
university professors, lawyers and
experts on general and financial man-
agement, accounting and auditing. The
educational package is available in
printed and electronic formats.

General and Financial Management of Not-for-Profit Organizations
Course Structure

First Module
Book I Legal Status of Non-Profit Organizations
Book II Legal Issues of Activity and Taxation Regime of Not-for-Profit Organizations
Book III Case Studies 

Second Module
Book I General Managements of Not-for-Profit Entities
Book II Human Resource Management

Third Module
Book I Accounting for Revenues and Expenses. Preparation of the Annual Financial
Report
Book II Programming. Strategic Planning and Budgeting. Pricing Decisions.
Book III Reporting on Activity



I. Social Surveys

The social research projects included six
quantitative and qualitative studies.
Fieldwork consisted in conducting
about 1800 face-to-face interviews and
140 in-depth interviews. The social
research projects of Vitosha Research
have been commissioned by United
States Agency for International
Development, Regional Initiatives
Fund, Democracy Network Program,
Princeton Survey Research Associates,
and Center for Economic Development.

Infrastructure Micro-projects’ Bene-
ficiary Assessment
The main objective of the social assess-
ment was to evaluate the impact of the
micro-projects implemented with the
support of the Regional Initiatives 
Fund (RIF). The research methods
employed included a combination of
quantitative and qualitative methods
aimed at obtaining information from
potential beneficiaries, the contractors, 

RIF staff, local authorities, supervising
organizations, and local media. In par-
ticular the beneficiary assessment
sought to explore the specific social 
relevance of the infrastructure projects
to community needs, the level of aware-
ness of the local population about the
projects, the elements of the selection
procedure, the appearance of conflicts,
and future sustainability pf the project
results. This assessment was carried out
prior to project implementation and will
be followed by an “ex ante” survey after
the end of the implementation phase of
the RIF infrastructure projects.

Results of the assessment showed that
in all the settlements projects were eval-
uated by local population as useful. The
majority of people reported that they
would benefit personally from the
implementation of the projects. People’s
expectations focused mainly on the 
opening of temporary jobs and improve-
ment of public utilities. Some problems
were also identified: personal involve-
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Vitosha Research/Sociological Program

1999 Highlights

• In 1999, Vitosha Research conducted 39 quantitative and qualitative research
projects in the fields of social and economic research, marketing and media
surveys, and public opinion polls. Work on these projects included conduct-
ing 8,000 face-to-face interviews, 150 in depth interviews and 50 focus
groups.

• The collected information was summarized in 40 analytical reports, policy
papers and newspaper publications.

• After the October 1999 local elections Vitosha Research organized a series of
three seminars on “Municipal Elections in Bulgaria: a Look Ahead” to 
present the analyses of the election results of leading Bulgarian pollsters
and political analysts.

• Vitosha Research pioneered the social assessment studies in Bulgaria. Two
projects evaluating the social impact and efficiency of micro-projects imple-
mented by Regional Initiative Fund in the country were conducted.
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ment in the selection of particular 
projects was low; the level of employ-
ment at the new project sites was rather
low; the attitude of the local population
towards the projects was mainly passive
moral support.

Evaluation of Anti-Poverty Impacts of
Micro-projects
The main objective of the project was to
make a social evaluation of the anti-
poverty impact and effectiveness of
micro-projects implemented by the RIF.
The study was based on interviews with
workers employed on construction sites
and interviews with representatives of
contractor companies implementing the
projects. The more specific objectives
and problem areas were employment of
workers from socially disadvantaged
groups: poor, unemployed and other
minority groups; demographic profile
and socio-economic status of employed
workers; differences in the employment
status of workers before and during the
implementation of the projects; changes
in the economic status of workers after
starting work on the sites; attitudes of
the workers towards the projects and
assessments of their social effect. 

The main conclusion of the social
assessment of the RIF micro-projects’
anti-poverty impact was that they have
managed to reach their target group, i.e.
temporary employment has been creat-
ed for low-skilled workers, the majority
of whom had been registered as unem-
ployed; monthly income approximating
the average monthly salary in the coun-
try have been generated and, in this
respect, many of the workers, as well as
their households, have improved their
economic situation.

II. Economic Research

The main topics of the economic
research projects were company per-

formance, macroeconomic expectations,
corporate governance and local eco-
nomic development. Vitosha Research
conducted 220 face-to-face interviews
and 3 focus groups with company man-
agers. Throughout the year Vitosha
Research also participated in the prepa-
ration of three sections of the monthly
Early Warning Reports for Bulgaria.

Global Competitiveness Survey
The survey is part of the effort of the
World Economic Forum at Davos to
track developments of the world econo-
my. It was conducted jointly by Vitosha
Research and the Center for Economic
Development. The study was based on
interviews with company managers of
Bulgarian and foreign companies, and
provided information on the business
climate in the country and the level of
competitiveness of the Bulgarian econo-
my. A total of 125 interviews with senior
managers of 125 Bulgarian companies
(private and state-owned) and 32 for-
eign companies were conducted. 

The results of the survey provided valu-
able information about the state of the
economy and the existing opportunities
for export-led growth. Bulgaria was
included for the first time in the official
annual report of the World Economic
Forum “Global Competitiveness Report
1999”. 

Corporate Governance in Transitional
Economy
This project was commissioned by the
Center for Economic Development and
included a focus groups study with
directors of privatized companies, line
ministry and agency officials, represen-
tatives of capital market institutions,
and journalists. The main objective of
the study was to obtain information
about the perceptions of corporate gov-
ernance among different groups, and
the practically implemented corporate
governance models and their efficiency



and to assess the role of the state in
introducing efficient management prac-
tices.

The study showed that the principles of
corporate governance are rather known
more in theory than in practice. The
establishment of professional standards
of corporate governance is considered a
necessary condition and important
incentive for the development of the
capital market. Several important prob-
lems have also been identified: opinions
were expressed that the development of
corporations, and especially the 
establishment of public companies in
Bulgaria, occurs not according to the
logic of economic necessity but under
administrative pressure; the role and
functions of the owners (shareholders)
and management executive bodies have
not yet been clearly defined and differ-
entiated; the establishment of proper
legal channels and mechanisms for
ensuring free, quick and cheap access to
information on the joint-stock com-
panies was unanimously indicated as a
key precondition for the realization of
the principles of corporate governance. 

Early Warning System in Bulgaria 
The project started in November 1997
and is coordinated by the United
National Development Program
(UNDP). Work on the project is carried
out by a group of analysts from the
Department of International Relations
Association, CSD, British-Bulgarian
Social Surveys, and Club Ekonomika
2000. Early Warning Systems explore
the possibility of anticipating and
responding to crisis situations before
they become too violent, or mitigating
their effects once underway. 

Work on the project includes the publi-
cation of a monthly Early Warning
Report monitoring of the dynamics of
the overall economic, social, political,
religious and ethnic environment in

Bulgaria. Interest in the project has
increased. The report has been made
available on the Internet at
www.undp.online.bg/ewr. 

Corruption Monitoring System of
Coalition 2000 
Vitosha Research was extensively
engaged in conducting the surveys
included in the Corruption Monitoring
System of Coalition 2000. The CMS
includes a comprehensive set of qualita-
tive and quantitative surveys aiming at
different target groups (general public,
businessmen, public officials, profes-
sionals, etc.). In 1999 a total of 5 quanti-
tative and 5 qualitative surveys were
conducted. The basic functions of the
CMS itself are related to its major out-
puts: the Corruption Indexes of Coalition
2000 and the Corruption Assessment
Report. Corruption indexes summarize
the most important corruption indicator
variables to evaluate and measure the
proliferation of corrupt practices in dif-
ferent spheres of society. The
Corruption Indexes of Coalition 2000
were published three times in 1999.

The results of the CMS show a positive
change in attitudes against corruption
(i.e. higher intolerance). Citizens are
less likely to accept various forms of
corruption as normal, or use corrupt
practices as a means of coping with
problems. A climate of intolerance
towards corruption and a critical atti-
tude towards corrupt public officials,
including in the high ranks of power, is
being fostered in society. 

For the most part public opinion consis-
tently qualifies as corrupt the following
sectors: customs, tax administration,
court system (including judges,
lawyers, court officials, prosecutors),
and the police. Public opinion has
become far more critical towards cor-
ruption and the policies claiming to
fight it. In 1999 there was a tangible fall
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in public confidence that the authorities
are truly taking steps to counter corrup-
tion. 

According to the public many of the factors contributing to the spread of cor-
ruption are immediately related to the structure and functioning of the public
sphere. It is commonly believed that this sphere is both conducive to corrupt
practices and does not create regulatory and functional preconditions for curb-
ing those practices.

Main Factors Influencing the Spread of Corruption in Bulgaria (%)*

February April September
’99 ’99 ’99

The desire for fast enrichment by those
53,5 52,9 54,8in power

Low remuneration 51,9 51,5 43,6

Inadequate legislation 41,1 38,8 37,8

Lack of strict administrative control 35,2 36,4 33,8

Conflict of official obligations and 
25,1 25,8 28,3private interest

Ineffectiveness of the court system 26,4 19,6 27,5

The moral crisis in the period of 
19,4 19,4 19,4transition

The problems inherited from the 
10,9 6,8 7,4communist past

The specific characteristics of Bulgarian 
5,7 6,9 4,7culture

Source: Coalition 2000 CMS
* Notes: 1. Indicates the percentage of those citing each of the factors quoted.

2. The total sum of percentages exceeds 100% as up to three factors have been evaluated.
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III. Marketing Research

The basic topics of marketing research
projects were:

• Internet services: focus group discus-
sion with Internet users aimed at
exploring the motivation of the clients
to become Internet users, the level of
knowledge about Internet services
market, and evaluation of Internet
providers. 

• Carbonated soft drink usage and con-
sumption: brand image and carbonat-
ed soft drink usage; tracking the
effects of the advertising campaign of
Schweppes in the media.

• Evaluation of packaging and labels of
new brands of mineral water. The sur-
vey explored consumers attitudes
towards different packaging and
labeling.

• Assessment of energy consumption
patterns of the population in the
municipality of Sofia. The survey
focused on household energy con-
sumption patterns and also explored
energy needs, assessment of the qual-
ity of services provided, as well as
evaluation of alternative household
heating models.

IV. Media Research

In 1999 media research focused on for-
eign radio station programming evalua-
tion (Voice of America, Deutche Welle,
BBC), structure and dynamics of social
attitudes towards media in Bulgaria and
assessment of media audiences of Radio
Vitosha in Sofia. A total of three 
quantitative and five qualitative media
projects were conducted. They included
focus groups, face-to-face interviews
and desk research. The media research
projects were commissioned by the
InterMedia Survey Institute
(Washington D.C.), ARC Fund and
Vitosha Radio (Sofia).

V. Public Opinion Surveys 

A total of four public opinion research
projects were conducted in 1999. The
basic topics covered were: public 
opinion about politics and the economy,
NATO and the European Union, public
opinion about the war in Kosovo, 
opinions about charitable donation
making. The projects were commis-
sioned by the United Stated Information
Agency, the Sociological Research
Center of the Ministry of Defense (Bul-
garia), and SOS – Kinderdorf, Bulgaria.

VI. Publications 

Research findings were widely 
disseminated in the press. More than 30
newspaper articles were published in
the papers with national distribution.
The following analytic reports and poli-
cy papers were also prepared in 1999: 

• Institutional Infrastructure of the NGO
Sector: Organizations with Socio-
Economic Orientation, March 1999

• Regional Development and Local
Government Reform: Condition,
Factors, Trends and Roles of “The
Third Sector”, April 1999

• Corporate Governance under
Conditions of Transition to Market
Economy, March 1999

• The Public Attitude to NATO -
Structure, Dynamics, Trends, June
1999

• Attitudes towards Corruption in the
Healthcare and Educational Systems
in Bulgaria, June 1999

• Beneficiary Expectations and
Evaluations of the Results of Micro-
projects Implemented by the Regional
Initiative Fund, October 1999

• Evaluation of Micro-projects Anti-
Poverty Impact, November 1999

• Structure and Dynamics of Social
Attitudes towards Mass Media in
Bulgaria, October 1999
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VII. Conference and Seminars

Vitosha Research staff members partici-
pated in several international and
national conferences and seminars:

• International conference “NATO at 50
and in the Future: Public Opinion in
the East and the West”, June 1999,
Sofia, Bulgaria

• Anticorruption Workshop – United
Nations Interregional Crime and
Justice Research Institute; July 1999,
Budapest

• International conference “10 years
after”, Freedom House, July 1999,
Budapest, Hungary

• Annual Conference of Hungary
Sociological Association, July 1999,
Budapest

• Public discussion “The corruption
problem in public administration”,
July 1999, Lovech, Bulgaria

• Social Impact Assessment Seminar,
UNDP, August, 1999, Sofia, Bulgaria

• 9th International Anti-Corruption
Conference “Global Integrity: 2000
and Beyond”, October 1999, Durban,
South Africa

• Seminars “Municipal Elections in
Bulgaria: A Look Ahead”, October-
November 1999, Sofia, Bulgaria

• Second Annual Meeting of the Anti-
Corruption Network for Transition
Economies, November 1999, Istanbul

• International Development Law
Institute seminar “Legal prevention
and judicial control of corruption”,
November 1999, Rome, Italy

• ISPAC Conference “Responding to
the Challenges of Corruption”,
November 1999, Milan, Italy
(International Scientific and
Professional Advisory Council of the
United Nations Crime Prevention and
Criminal Justice Program)

• International Conference
“Contribution of Social Research to
the Economic and Social Recovery
Policy”, November 1999, Sofia,

Bulgaria
• International Meeting “Ten Years

Later. Lessons Learned for the
Future”, November 1999, Sofia,
Bulgaria

VIII. Ongoing Projects

In cooperation with a consortium of
research agencies from Central and
Eastern Europe lead by Gallup –
Hungary, Vitosha Research participates
in the Eurobarometer for the
Commission of the European Union.
The “Eurobarometer” project is an inter-
national three-year study including an
annual tracking of social attitudes that is
to be conducted in the countries apply-
ing for membership in the European
Union.

Corruption Monitoring in Southeast
Europe is another important project
launched by Vitosha Research, jointly
with CSD, in November 1999. It aims at
studying corruption as a key element of
regional stability in the context of the
Stability Pact. Within this project a 
system for monitoring the level of trans-
parency, efficiency and corruption of
public administration in Bulgaria,
Macedonia and Albania will be 
developed and tested. This regional 
system is based on the already existing
Corruption Monitoring System of
Coalition 2000, implemented by Vitosha
Research in Bulgaria.

Vitosha Research is also actively
involved in the implementation of the
“Accountable Government in the East-
Central Europe: Self and Public
Perception” in partnership with NGOs
from Romania and Slovakia. The 
objective of the project is to assess the
level of transparency, accountability and
responsibility of the public administra-
tion on a comparative basis, and to
explore the public expectations and 



attitudes about these issues. The project
will provide systematic regional 
information on the institutional culture 

of the central government administra-
tion and parliamentary agencies in
Bulgaria, Romania and Slovakia.
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Public opinion is becoming less tolerant towards corruption and less inclined to
use corrupt practices (Figure 1). A positive development is also to be observed
with respect to the sector (Figure 2). Nevertheless, the actual frequency of 
citizens involvement in acts of corruption remains unchanged.

Preconditions for Corruption and 
Frequency of Acts of Corruption

Source: Coalition 2000 Corruption Monitoring System.

Figure 1
Preconditions for Corruption

Figure 2
Frequency of Acts of Corruption
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Six and a half years after Bulgaria
signed its Association Agreement with
the European Union, in December 1999
its relations with the EU took a crucial
step forward – the European Council at
Helsinki invited the country to start
membership negotiations in 2000. 1999
also marked a broadened involvement
of non-governmental actors in the inte-
gration efforts.

For CSD’s European Program 1999 was
an year of sustained efforts for keeping
representatives of informed opinion in
Bulgaria in touch with developments in
the EU and for producing and dissemi-
nating a body of expert analysis on the
various aspects of accession.

I. Facilitating Dialogue

The European Program’s building bridges
activities were implemented in two
directions – bringing policy makers and
public officials to a dialogue with the
expert and NGO community on the 
crucial accession policies, and providing
forum for discussion with EU experts
and officials.

At the request of the Ministry of
Regional Development, CSD hosted a
public discussion of the National
Development Plan (NDP) 2000-2006.
The NDP is part of the preparation of
the country for using the EU pre-acces-
sion funds. The discussion meeting was
attended by representatives of the
Council of Ministers, the district admin-
istrations, the Bulgarian National Bank,
the trade unions, business associations,
non-governmental organizations, uni-
versities, the EU Delegation to Bulgaria,
the UN Development Program, 

Bulgarian and foreign donors.

The discussion outlined the most impor-
tant problems and prerequisites for bal-
ancing national and European priorities:
a tax reform which will stimulate invest-
ment activities by Bulgarian enterprises;
completion of the agrarian reform and
consolidation of land property; compre-
hensive assessment of the accession
costs and their socio-economic implica-
tions.

Mr. Vassil Garnizov, Deputy Minister of
Regional Development, pointed out five
main priorities of the National
Development Plan:
• Completion of the institutional

reform;
• Increasing the competitiveness of the

Bulgarian economy;
• Human resources development;
• Reduction of regional differences;
• Infrastructure development.

As a follow-up to the meeting, CSD col-
lected and processed a number of writ-
ten suggestions and comments to the
Plan by interested organizations
throughout the country. The feedback
was then provided to the Central
Coordination Unit at the Ministry which
was responsible for the drafting process.
The NDP was subsequently adopted by
the Council of Ministers. 

CSD’s Forum Europe 2000 started in
January with a visit by Mr. Eric Boel,
International Secretary to the Social-
Democratic Party in Denmark and
Foreign Policy Adviser to the Danish
Prime Minister. One of the emphases of
Mr. Boel’s presentation was the impor-
tance of the security dimension of the
enlargement of the European Union. In

European Program



this aspect, it is of no less significance
for stability in Europe than the expan-
sion of NATO. He shared the Danish
experience in this respect, in particular
with the ratification of the Maastricht
Treaty, pointing out that the majority of
the Danes support the enlargement to
the East. The participants asked Mr.
Boel about the role of political parties in
the process of European integration.
Answering, Mr. Boel commented specif-
ically on the contacts of the Danish
Social Democrats with their colleagues
in the applicant countries. In this con-
text there were two major goals pursued
by his party – promotion of multiparty
democracy in these countries and pro-
motion of social-democratic values.

In February guest speaker at Forum
Europe 2000 was Mr. Claude Cornuau,
Senior Councillor at the European Court
of Auditors, and Adviser to the
European Commission for Institution
Building of Candidate Countries to the
European Union. Mr. Cornuau is author 

of the twining mechanism, which is part
of the institution building assistance of
the European Union for the applicant
countries. Mr. Cornuau outlined the
policy and institutional context of twin-
ing. It is an initiative of the European
Commission to assist the applicant
countries in acquiring the independent
capacity to adopt, implement and
enforce the full acquis in accordance
with Agenda 2000, before accession to
the European Union. Twinning will
involve precise, timed and budgeted
work programs, aimed initially at cer-
tain key sectors – agriculture, environ-
ment, finance, and justice and home
affairs. Mr. Cornuau made a distinction
between two groups of member states
from the point of view of institution
building assistance – those having more
advanced “acquis culture”, i.e. the older
member states with longer experience in
implementing the EU legislation, and
those with “accession culture”, i.e. with
more recent experience in accession
preparations. Answering questions by 
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the participants, Mr. Cornuau pointed
out the importance of the participation
of non-administrative bodies in the
institution building exercise. It was
institution, not simply administration
building that twining is aimed to
achieve, and non-governmental organi-
zations are a key partner in the process.

On July 2, CSD’s European Program
hosted a meeting of the Europe 2000
Forum with Ms. Bridget Czarnota,
Director of the Technical Assistance
Information Exchange Office (TAIEX) of
the European Commission. TAIEX,
intended to provide a range of services
to the applicant countries, was created
in 1995, following the completion and
publication of the White Paper of the
Commission on the integration of the
associated countries in the internal 
market of the Union, which was also
coordinated by Ms. Czarnota. Initially
designed to provide assistance to the
executive on issues of the single market,
TAIEX has now expanded its range to 

include the whole of acquis communau-
taire providing assistance to all legal
entities in the applicant countries. One
of the most significant developments at
TAIEX is a movement from the provi-
sion of assistance on legislation to fos-
tering the establishment of partnerships
between institutions from member
states and the applicant countries. Thus
the office is seeking to address the
process of approximation not merely as
a legal exercise but in its entirety from
development to implementation.

Ms. Czarnota stressed that it is not suf-
ficient to rely on mechanisms which
serve the accession needs of the appli-
cant countries from Brussels. Assistance
exchanges need to be driven by the
countries themselves exercising
stronger ownership of the process.

CSD has also been active in networking
with other policy institutes in CEE. In
early 1999, the Bertelsmann Foundation
and the World Bank launched a collabo-

Ms. Bridget Czarnota, Director of the European Commission’s TAIEX
service at the Forum Europe 2000 breakfast meeting.



rative initiative aimed at enhancing the
involvement of policy institutes from
the CEE countries in the enlargement
process. The initiative will establish a
network of institutes which will main-
tain an informal cross-border dialogue
among governments, policy institutes
and civil society on a number of EU
accession issues. CSD and the Economic
Policy Institute were invited to partici-
pate from Bulgaria.

As a first step, the network collaborated
in drafting study reports on the dynam-
ics of “winners and losers” of EU 
integration in CEE. Country reports
were commissioned to various institutes
which were then summarized in three
papers – on the five CEE countries, on
Bulgaria and Romania and on the Baltic
states. The papers were presented at a
conference Towards European Integration:
Network for Integration of Central and
Eastern European Countries into the
European Union organized by the
Bertelsmann Foundation and the World
Bank in Guetersloh, Germany in
November 1999. The purpose of the
conference was to identify a number of
areas of interest to the network on the
basis of the research carried out in the
“winners and losers” analysis. The areas
include institutional development, pro-
motion of intra-accession countries
trade and regional cooperation, the rela-
tion between growth and convergence.
These will be addressed in a discussion
forum based on the network’s Internet
site (www.euintegration.net). The net-
work will hold a number of meetings
annually to be hosted by the member
institutes in their respective countries.

The timing of accession will be crucial
to the winner-loser balance in Bulga-
ria and Romania. Meeting the Copen-
hagen criteria is a goal for both coun-
tries but in the pre-accession period

they have growing needs of finacial
and investment support. In the
European Commission’s Agenda 2000
it is foreseen that beyond 2001 there
will be some diverging trends for
financial support to new members and
for the later entrants. If this becomes
actual policy, then new members will
be at an advantage in terms of finan-
cial support compared with those who
join later. This will make the task of
catching up for Bulgaria and Romania
all the more difficult.

Excerpt from the paper 
“Winners and Losers of European
Integration: The Case of Bulgaria

and Romania”

In March, CSD was visited by a World
Bank delegation including Mr. Johannes
Linn, World Bank Vice President,
Mr. Pieter Stek, Executive Director, and
Mr. Andrew Vorkink, Country Director
for Bulgaria and Romania. The discus-
sions focused on the role of non-govern-
mental organizations in the Bank’s work
in Bulgaria, specifically as regards the
Bank’s assistance to Bulgaria’s EU
accession efforts. Dr. Ognian Shentov,
CSD President, hosted a lunch for the
World Bank delegation, joined by
Dr. Lubomir Christov, Adviser to the
Executive Director, and Mr. Thomas
O’Brien, Head of the World Bank
Mission to Sofia, other representatives
of the Mission, several Bulgarian NGOs,
representatives of government agencies
and the judiciary. Issues discussed
included the legal environment for
NGOs, corruption in the context of
development, Bulgaria’s EU accession
and the Bank’s assistance strategy in
this respect.

* * *
In 1999 the European Program contin-
ued several years of cooperation with
the Bologna Center of Johns Hopkins
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University. Under an arrangements
with the Center, the European Program
hosts student interns who spend several
months with CSD carrying out research
and helping with the preparation of the
Program’s publications.

II. Policy Studies

Developing and publishing policy
analyses and recommendations in the
key accession areas is one of the priori-
ties of the European Program. In 1999,
in continuation of the work started in
the volume “Bulgaria and the European
Union - Towards an Institutional
Infrastructure”, it published five papers
in the field of EU integration (also avail-
able at www.csd.bg/publications.htm):
• Bulgaria’s Participation in EU

Structural Funds;
• Social Policy Aspects of Bulgaria’s EU

Accession;
• Preparing for Bulgaria’s EU Accession

Negotiations;

• The Role of Political Parties in
Accession to the EU;

• Bulgaria’s Capital Markets in the
Context of Accession: A Status Report.

The first of these reports on preparing
for EU’s structural policies was pub-
lished in September. The report 
examines the necessary organizational,
administrative, legal and financial
measures Bulgaria has to undertake in
the next few years in order to fulfill the
prerequisites for participation in the EU
structural funds. The publication out-
lines: a) the main steps of the pre-acces-
sion strategy for the preparation of Bul-
garia’s participation in EU structural
funds with a view to the existing problems
and achievements in the spheres of
regional policy, transportation, telecom-
munications, the labor market, and
social policy; b) the new financial instru-
ments of the pre-accession policy, ISPA
and SAPARD; c) conclusions and 
recommendations of practical importance,
and priority tasks in each sector, some of 

Mr. Johannes Linn, World Bank Vice President and Mr. Andrew Vorkink, Country Director for
Bulgaria and Romania meet with CSD President, Dr. Ognian Shentov (left).



which were already carried out in 1999,
such as the National Development Plan
2000-2006, the National Plan for
Development of Agriculture and Rural
Regions, etc. A EU Structural Funds: A
Brief Guide was published as an addition
to the report. 

The paper on the social policy aspects
of accession , discusses a number of key
issues: What is the scope of the economic
and social criteria for integration in the
social sphere? To what extent does the
Bulgarian social protection system cor-
respond to the European models and
values? What are the prospects for
development of the social reform in the
light of the strategy for accession to the
European Union?

The reform of the social protection sys-
tem in Bulgaria is analyzed within the
context of the pre-accession strategy.
The main conclusion is that the national
legislation meets the substantial
requirements of the European Social

Charter signed in 1998. The insufficient
financial and administrative resources
are obstacles to the effective exercise of
the social rights. They determine the
main gaps in the field of social protec-
tion, the removal of which is a condition
for membership: pension reform aiming
at reduction of pension burden for the
active population and work incentive
promotion; investment in the active
labor market programs; practical
enforcement of the principle of equal
treatment in the employment sector and
job creation for minorities and disad-
vantaged groups; institutional strength-
ening and injection of resources in the
health sector. 

At its Helsinki meeting in December, the
European Council decided to convene
bilateral intergovernmental conferences
in February 2000 to begin negotiations
with Bulgaria. CSD’s paper on prepar-
ing for negotiations with the EU was
developed in anticipation of this deci-
sion and addressed the topical issue of
preparing the country for effective
negotiations. The study emphasizes
some lessons from previous EU enlarge-
ments, and their relevance to the current
stage – customs union, agricultural and
regional policies, fisheries, environment
and health care standards, state aids, fis-
cal issues, etc. The paper discusses the
impact of enlargements – the last one in
particular – on the Union, especially on
its institutional arrangements. Among
the lessons to be drawn from previous
enlargements, the study highlights that:
- negotiations are conducted with each
candidate country individually and it is
for that country to find the best solu-
tions;
- in the course of negotiations, the EU
would not allow any candidate country
to export significant new problems to
the Union;
- openly stating any problems could
only bring dividends during the negoti-
ations;
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- political support from the capital city
would be decisive throughout the
process of negotiations;
- public opinion would play an ever
increasing role in the process of negotia-
tions;
- clear fixing arrangements reached at
each stage would warrant the successful
movement from one stage in the negoti-
ations to the next.

In April 1999, CSD was commissioned
by the World Bank to develop a back-
ground report on the status of the
Bulgarian capital market, particularly
as regards preparations for accession to
the EU. The project was envisaged as
part of the Bank’s contribution to the
enlargement process of the Union
towards the CEE countries. The report
contributes to the discussion of capital
market reform in Bulgaria in prepara-
tion for eventual integration into the
European Union. The report views
accession on two levels. The first is
whether the necessary capital market
institutions and legislation are in place. 

The second one is whether capital 
markets are functioning in a manner
that supports economic growth and
development. The report also analyzes
the equity market, including the concen-
tration of ownership and investment
companies, the capital market institu-
tions - the stock exchange, investment
intermediaries, the Central Depository,
and the Buldarian National Securities
Commission. Particular attention is paid
to the securities legislation and its har-
monization with the EU acquis and the
issues of corporate governance.

* * *

In both policy analysis and dissemina-
tion of results, and facilitating the policy
dialogue the Center’s European
Program has provided an indispensable
public service in the field of European
integration. In this, the Program meets
an apparent need in Bulgaria and its
efforts would be even more relevant
now that the country enters a crucial
period of accession negotiations. 



I. 50th Anniversary of the Council of
Europe

1999 was an important year for the
Council of Europe. During this year the
Parliamentary Assembly elected a new
Secretary General, Mr. Walter
Schwimmer (Austria) to replace outgo-
ing Mr. Daniel Tarschys (Sweden). An
overhaul of the Secretariat General of
the Council was carried out to allow it
to better respond to new challenges and
increased membership. Also, two key
new legal instruments were introduced
– the Penal and Civil Law Conventions
against Corruption, as well as a 
monitoring mechanism known by its
French acronym GRECO. 

Above all, in May, events in Budapest,
London and Strasbourg marked the
50th anniversary of this unique pan-
European organization. Conscious of
the contribution, which membership in
the Council has made for Bulgaria’s
democratic development, the
Information Centre initiated a celebra-
tion to commemorate the anniversary in
Sofia. The event, organized in coopera-
tion with the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs, was opened by a speech by the
President of Bulgaria, Mr. Petar
Stoyanov, followed by interventions by
Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of
Education Mr. Vesselin Metodiev, the
Chairman of the Constitutional Court
Prof. Zhivko Stalev, Deputy Foreign
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Information Centre 
on the Council of Europe in Sofia

Print Releases 1999
Translations
• ECRI’s country-by-country approach. Second report on Bulgaria adopted

on 18 June 1999 
• ECRI General Policy Recommendation N° 1: Combating racism, xenopho-

bia, anti-Semitism and intolerance 
• ECRI General Policy Recommendation N° 2: Specialized bodies to combat

racism, xenophobia, anti-Semitism and intolerance at national level 
• ECRI General Policy Recommendation N° 3: Combating racism and intoler-

ance against Roma/Gypsies 
• ECRI General Policy Recommendation N° 4: National surveys on the expe-

rience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view
of potential victims 

• General Policy Recommendation No. 5: Combating intolerance and dis-
crimination against Muslims 

• A visit by the CPT – What’s it all about?15 Questions and Answers for the
Police 

• Police Practice and Human Rights - A European Introduction. A Reference
Brochure

Publications
• The Council of Europe - a general leaflet 1999 
• Europe is more that you think: educational package for secondary school 
• International Legal Acts Against Corruption
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Minister Konstantin Dimitrov and
Ambassador Tamas Tick of Hungary, as
Hungary was chairing the Committee of
Ministers of the Council at the time of
the celebrations. 
Speeches were followed by a ceremony,
chaired by Mr. Antoni Slavinski,
President of the Committee of Posts and
Telecommunications (CPT), of the offi-
cial validation of a new post stamp
“50th Anniversary of the Council of
Europe” issued by the CPT. The event
also included an exhibition of all trans-
lations and publications by the
Information Centre in Sofia since its
establishment. 

II. Human Rights, Social Issues and
Education

Cooperation with the Ministry of
Education for the Europe in School ini-
tiative is already a tradition for the
Information Centre in Sofia. At the end
of May, the winners of the competition 

were awarded more than 60 Council of
Europe prizes provided by the Centre.
The Centre also hosted an exhibition of
some of the prize-winning works. 

In 1999, the Information Centre was
instrumental in the process of institu-
tional coordination for the ratification of
the European Social Charter. A coordi-
nation council was set up by the
Ministry of Labor and Social Policy
including representatives of civil society
organizations. During the initial period
of formation of the council, the Centre
was active in providing the participants
with the background information neces-
sary for their work. In February, the
Information Centre hosted a consulta-
tion meeting on drafting the Council of
Europe Manual on the Administrative
Procedures for the Implementation of
National Obligations according the
Provisions of the European Social
Charter. The meeting brought together
European and Bulgarian social policy
experts. 

President Petar Stoyanov addresses the participants in the Council of Europe 50th anniversary meet-
ing



As human rights are the main priority
area in the activities of the Council of
Europe, it also figures prominently in the
agenda of the Information Centres. In
September, the Centre co-organized with
the Ministry of Justice a training session
for judges and prosecutors on Articles 6,
8 and 10 of the European Convention on
Human Rights. In December, an interna-
tional conference “7 Years of Constitu-
tional Court Practice: the Human Rights
Perspective” was co-organized with the
Bulgarian Helsinki Committee and the
Bulgarian Centre for Human Rights. 

III. Visits and Meetings

Shortly after he took office in
September, the new Secretary General,
Mr. Schwimmer, met with the Directors
of the Council Information Centers. The
meeting was attended by the Director of
the Sofia Centre, Mr. Todorov. Mr.
Schwimmer discussed his vision of the 
role of the Council of Europe as a pan-

European organization. He stressed the
role of the Council as a preventive me-
chanism reducing the costs and casual-
ties of potential conflicts on the conti-
nent. Strengthening of the monitoring of
member states at intergovernmental
level, presence at important political
events and reinforcement of the organi-
zation’s role in implementing the Stabi-
lity Pact for SEE were emphasized as
priorities by the Secretary General. It
was pointed out that the Information
Centres could be instrumental in ensur-
ing an effective role of the Council in the
region of Southeast Europe. Coopera-
tion with the other key international
organizations – the EU, OSCE and UN –
were also discussed. 

In November, during his visit to
Bulgaria on the occasion of a conference
on the parliamentary contribution to the
implementation of the Stability Pact,
held in Sofia,  Mr. Schwimmer visited
the Information Centre on the Council
of Europe in Sofia.
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Mr. Walter Schwimmer, Secretary General of the Council of Europe visited center hosted by CSD
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Following the end of the Kosovo con-
flict, PACE President Lord Russell-
Johnston arrived for a three day visit to
Bulgaria at the invitation of Mr. Yordan
Sokolov, Chairman of the National
Assembly. The main purpose of his visit
to Romania, Bulgaria and Albania, was
to discuss the post-war reconstruction
and development of the region. During
his stay in Bulgaria, Lord Russell-
Johnston visited the Information Centre
in Sofia. 

In 1999, Bulgaria was still under a 
monitoring procedure by the Committee
on Honoring the Obligations by the
member states of the Council of Europe,
which monitors compliance with the
European Convention on Human
Rights. After several years of monitor-
ing, reports by the rapporteurs for
Bulgaria - Mr. David Atkinson, British
MP and Mr. Henning Gjelerod, Danish
MP – generated considerable media
interest. The Information Centre 
facilitated the input of non-governmen-
tal organizations to the report prepared
by the rapporteurs of the Committee in
1999. It also hosted two meetings of the
rapporteurs with Bulgarian non-
governmental organizations during
their visits in February and December. 

In view of the major contribution to be
provided by the Council of Europe to
the implementation of the Stability Pact
for Southeastern Europe, a meeting of
the Information Centres’ Directors from
the countries in the region was held in
Skopje, Macedonia in August. The meet-
ing, also attended by representatives of
the Secretariat of the Council, coordinat-
ed the efforts of the Centres as facilita-
tors of the organization’s contribution.
Several joint projects were proposed to
be implemented in the course of 2000.

The Information Centre in Sofia was
also active participant in the work of
Coalition 2000. In addition to liaising
between the initiative and the Council
of Europe, the Centre compiled, trans-
lated and published an anti-corruption
reader, “International Legal Acts
Against Corruption” which included all
international conventions and other
legal instruments in this area relevant to
Bulgaria. 

Visits by the Secretary General and the
PACE President indicate the growing
importance the Council attaches to the
activities of its Information Centres in
the countries of Central and Eastern
Europe. 



CSD launched its book donation pro-
gram back in 1990 when it established a
partnership with the US Sabre
Foundation. With the assistance of the
Open Society Foundation-Sofia, which
financed the transportation and distri-
bution costs, CSD started receiving sev-
eral shipments annually of US publica-
tion donated by the Sabre Foundation. 
Since 1990, CSD, as an official partner to
the Sabre Foundation, has received and
distributed around the country 16 ship-
ments of more than 330,000 books worth
over $19,000,000. 

These activities continue a long tradi-
tion in Bulgaria of donations aimed at
contributing to education and public 

knowledge. CSD’s book donation was
also quite timely as it came at a moment
when budgets for education and culture
were shrinking both nationally and
locally. It assisted Bulgarian universi-
ties, libraries, hospitals, and individuals
in staying in touch with international
scientific exchanges in a period when a
knowledge economy is taking root glob-
ally.

Areas of knowledge covered by the
donations have varied widely – from
heart surgery to telecommunications.
In 1999, the latest donations were the
first to include, in addition to books,
CD-ROMs, as well as audio and video-
tapes.

51

Book Donation

US Ambassador Richard Miles (center) at a press conference and book presentation ceremony at the
University Hospital. The event generated considerable media interest with broadcasts on Bulgarian
National Television and almost all the national press, reflecting the interest in such a large donation of
much needed medical books. Following the event, Ambassador and Mrs. Miles hosted a reception
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{The donation in 1999} is one of the
most valuable collections ever donated
to one country by Sabre – over
120,000 medical books (2,000 separate
titles) with a retail value of over
$10,000,000 for Bulgaria. 

Sabre Foundation Update, 
December 1999

On September 29, 1999, Mr. Richard
Miles, Ambassador of the United States
to Bulgaria, and Mr. Leonard Baldiga,
member of the Board of Directors of the 

Sabre Foundation, opened an exhibi-
tion of medical literature donated to
the “Tsaritsa Joana” University
Hospital by the Sabre Foundation. The
shipment included more than 120,000
volumes of about 2,200 recently pub-
lished titles of the Williams & Wilkins
publishing house: study guides, tests,
monographs, medical dictionaries, ref-
erence books, specialized editions in
dentistry, pharmacy, human and veteri-
nary medicine. Books and study 
materials were given to medical 
institutes and health-care organizations
around the country.

The Saber Foundation through the Center for the Study of Democracy is the largest
international donation institution providing unique specialized literature for
Bulgarian doctors.

It is for the first time that such a cardinal and dimensional change is taking place in
this country as the restructuring of the public healthcare is by establishing the
National Health Insurance Company (NHIC).

The main objective of the reform will be to provide an accessible and high-quality 
medical aid for the good start of the health reform.

There is no other opportunity such modern, expensive, and specialized medical 
literature to reach the doctors from the primary medical aid area who have to be the
first health unit for the population of the country.

If we contribute for improving the qualification of the medical aid, this will impact the
quality of health services.

NHIC as an institution, which in the near future will be responsible for the 
functioning of the whole healthcare system in this country, also wishes to further 
cooperate with your organization for the realization of other projects in our area.

Dr. Boyko Penkov
(Director of NHIC)
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Part Two
Administration and Management





An efficient management structure and
administrative support have long been
important pillars of CSD’s institutional
capacity. Having an annual range of
diversified projects, both in terms of 
subject area and activity type, it is 
indispensable for the Center to maintain
a managerial structure ensuring that
projects are implemented with the most
efficient use of resources. There is a direct
link between CSD’s external mission as a
policy institute and its internal manage-
ment, which makes it a unique type of
institution in Bulgaria’s NGO sector.

This linkage became all the more evident,
and relevant, in 1999 when the Center
became operational Secretariat to three
coalition initiatives – Coalition 2000, the
Judicial Reform Initiative and the
Corporate Governance Initiative. This was
a recognition both of CSD’s reputation as
an independent facilitator of reforms, and
its institutional capacity to manage large
scale projects. Particularly important in
this respect was the developed internal
program structure of the organization,
which allows individual programs – the
Economic and Law Programs – to assume
and successfully carry out the responsi-
bilities of secretariats to these initiatives,
and provide operational support to their
activities. Being distinct organizational
units, CSD’s programs could undertake
these tasks with little strain on their
human resources. 

Having worked under a wide variety of
reporting requirements, CSD’s adminis-
tration and accounting departments
have accumulated valuable experience.
This has made the Center a reliable 
partner for many international organiza-
tions and bilateral donors working in 
Bulgaria as it has given it the ability to
implement large scale projects under the
strictest accounting standards. For seven 

years now external audits by leading
international accounting firms have both
developed and streamlined CSD’s 
general and financial management. The
experience and knowledge in the field of
internal management and external 
control have translated into long term
commitment to enhancing the 
competence and professionalism of the
NGO community in the country and its
public standing through various 
training, advocacy and legislative projects.

One way to achieve an efficient and 
transparent accounting system is the
application of the International
Accounting Standards (IAS) by CSD’s
financial department. As a recognition of
this effort, in 1999 the International
Accounting Standards Committee, an
independent private-sector body of 143
professional accountancy organizations
in 104 member countries based in the UK,
listed CSD as one of the two Bulgarian
institutions applying the IAS. The other
institution is the Bulgarian Telecom-
munications Company. This list is 
compiled based on information identified
by the IASC Secretariat in published
annual reports. In order to qualify for the
list, the auditors’ report of the organiza-
tion, as well as its summary of accounting 
policies, or notes must state that the
financial statements conform to IAS 
without qualification. The address of the
internet site publishing the list is
http://www.iasc.org.uk/frame/cen1_7.htm

The external audit for 1999 was commis-
sioned to KPMG. Their independent
opinion and CSD’s financial statements
follow.

In 1999, CSD employed 52 staff mem-
bers of which 32 were management and
professional, including part-time con-
sultants, and 17 were support personnel.
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Administration and Management



Governing Board
Ognian Shentov, PhD, President 
Vladimir Yordanov, Executive Director 
Alexander Stoyanov, Director of Research

Senior Staff
Boyko Todorov, Director, Information Centre 
on the Council of Europe, Sofia
Lydia Mileva, Financial Manager

Economic Program
Maria Prohaska, PhD, Coordinator 
Dimitar Bachvarov, Senior Fellow 
Yordan Markov, Research Fellow 
Vassil Hristov, Research Fellow 
Todor Yalamov, Research Fellow
Bozhana Stoeva, Program Assistant 

Law Program
Maria Yordanova, PhD, Coordinator 
Konstantin Tanev, Research Fellow 
Angel Kalaidjiev, Senior Fellow 
Borislav Belazelkov, Senior Fellow 
Silvy Tchernev, Senior Fellow 
Stephan Kyutchukov, Senior Fellow 
Rositsa Elazar, Fellow
Ralitsa Dimitrova, Assistant
Violeta Kostadinova, Assistant
Dimitar Markov, Assistant

Vitosha Research/Sociological Program
Andrey Nonchev, Coordinator
Margarita Pavlikianova, Senior Analyst
Tihomir Bezlov, Senior Analyst
Martin Kanushev, Senior Analyst
Martin Dimov, Senior Analyst
Atanas Kostadinov, Senior Analyst
Kalina Nedeva, Analyst
Ralitza Andreeva, Analyst
Ginka Pencheva, Research Assistant
Antoaneta Raikinska, Research Assistant
Kostadinka Andreeva, Head of Data Processing Unit
Bogdana Dermendjieva, Field Manager
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Information Centre on the Council of Europe, Sofia
Boyko Todorov, Director
Maria Donkova, Documentalist
Lilly Popivanova, Assistant

European Program
Teodora Noncheva, PhD, Senior Fellow 
Ambassador Todor Tchurov, Senior Fellow

Coalition 2000 Secretariat
Emil Tsenkov, PhD, Coordinator
Zhivka Damianova, PhD, Program Manager
Valia Rangelova, Secretary 
Ivan Vlahov, Communications Officer

Administration
Mariana Yankova, Administrative Secretary 
Joana Staleva, Coordinator, Book Donation 
Vladimir Gerassimov, LAN Administrator
Zoya Simova, Accountant 
Lazarina Andonova, Cashier/Bookkeeper 
Viara Ilieva, Assistant 
Iliana Andonova, Assistant



Alexander Stoyanov, Assistant Professor, University of National and
World Economy, Sofia, and Director of Research, Center for the Study
of Democracy 

Andrey Ivanov, PhD, Independent Consultant
Blagovest Georgiev, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Sociology,

Sofia University and Executive Director, Regional Initiatives Fund,
Ministry of Labor and the United Nations Development Programme
(UNDP)

Evgenii Dainov, PhD, Director, Centre for Social Practices and Chairman
of the Board, Open Society Foundation, Sofia

Inko Razpopov, PhD, General Manager, Atlantic Agency 
George Prohasky, PhD, Senior Economic Advisor, Council of Ministers

and Chairman, Board of Directors, Bulgarian Stock Exchange
Mois Faion, PhD, Business Development Manager, Metromedia

International Telecommunications, Stamford 
Ognian Shentov, PhD, President, Center for the Study of Democracy 
Tihomir Bezlov, Research Fellow, Center for the Study of Democracy 
Vladimir Yordanov, Executive Director, Center for the Study of

Democracy 
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Arie M. Oostlander, Member of the European Parliament 
Franz-Lothar Altman, Director, Suedost-Institut, Munich 
Giovanni Sartori, The Albert Schweizer Professor in the Humanities,

Columbia University, New York
James Fishkin, Professor, Darrel K. Royal Regents Chair in Government,

Law and Philosophy, University of Texas at Austin 
John Roper, Fellow, Royal Institute for International Affairs, London 
Juan Linz, Professor, Department of Political Studies, Yale University 
Margot Light, Professor, Department of International Relations at the

London School of Economics and Political Science 
Michael Branch, Professor, Director, School of Slavonic and East

European Studies, London 
Michael Katz, Dean of Languages and International Studies at

Middlebury College, Vermont, USA
Pasquale Ferraro, Deputy Director, International Development Law

Institute, Rome 
Walter Raymond, Jr., Program Director, US Association of Former

Members of Congress 
William Meyer, Esq., Hutchinson, Black and Cook; Central and East

European Law Initiative, American Bar Association 

International Advisory Board



American University in Bulgaria 
Assembly of the Western European Union 
British Association for Central and Eastern Europe
Center for Democracy and Free Enterprise, Prague
Center for Democracy, Washington, DC
Center for Economic Development (CPHR), Bratislava
Center for International Private Enterprise, Washington, DC
Center for Social & Economic Research (CASE), Warsaw
Central and East European Law Initiative of the American Bar Association
Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS), Brussels
Constitutional and Legislative Policy Institute, Hungary 
Council of Europe 
Department for International Development, UK
Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
European Commission 
European Parliament 
Freedom House
German Marshall Fund of the United States
Hanns Seidel Foundation, Munich
Hellenic Foundation for European and Foreign Policy (ELIAMEP), Athens
Institute for Human Sciences, SOCO Program, Vienna
Interights, London
InterMedia Survey Institute
International Center for Economic Growth, San Francisco
International Center for Not-for-Profit Law, Washington, DC
International Development Law Institute (IDLI), Rome
International Institute for Democracy, Strasbourg
King’s College, University of London
Lithuanian Free Market Institute
London School of Economics and Political Science, UK
MacArthur Foundation
Max-Plank-Institute, Hamburg 
OECD Development Center 
Open Society Institute
Parliamentary Center, Canada
Royal Institute for International Affairs, London 
Royaumont Process 
Sabre Foundation 
School of Slavonic and East European Studies, London
SIGMA
Suedost-Institut, Munich
United Nations Development Programme 
United States Agency for International Development
Universidad de Murcia/Santander Group, Spain
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Sources of Support and Cooperation
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Part Three
Financial Review
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Center for the Study of Democracy

Organisation’s Financial Statements
For the period ended 31 December 1999

With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon
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Report of the auditor to the General Assembly of the Center for the Study of Democracy

Scope

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet the related statements of income and
expenditure account and cash flows for the year then ended of the Center for the study of
democracy as of 31 December 1999.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The organization’s management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements.
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those 
statements and to report our opinion to you. 

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Center for the study of democracy as at 31 December 1999, and the excess of income over
expenditure in accordance with International Accounting Standards.

18 February 2000                                                    

KPMG Bulgaria OOD
13 Slavyanska Str.
1000 Sofia
Bulgaria

kpmgBulgaria



In BGN Note 1999 1998

Revenue from grants, contributions and projects 2 1,493,530) 1,222,918)
Expenses on grants, contributions and projects 3 (1,116,569) (1,153,263)
General and administrative expenses (27,982) (34,269)

Gross excess of revenue over expenditure 348,979) 35,386)

Foreign exchange gains – net 4 116,633) 86,199)
Interest income 31,011) 52,589)
Other financial expenses (6,083) (7,065)
Other income 289)
Extraordinary income - net 5 (914) 32,941)
Provisions (20,873)

Net excess of revenue over expenditure 469,042) 200,050)

Gain on net monetary position –) (7,975)

Excess of revenue over expenditure for the year 469,042) 192,075)

Accumulated excess of revenue over expenditure
brought forward 1,349,861) 1,157,786)

Unrestricted fund balances at 31 December 1999 1,818,903) 1,349,861)

The accompanying notes on pages 68 to 72 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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In BGN Note 1999 1998

Current Assets 2,520,863 1,474,018

Inventories 164 –
Receivables 6 148,456 237,525
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,581,004 1,153,411
Deferred expenses 8 791,239 83,082

Non-current assets 577,819 156,730

Property, plant and equipment 9 572,311 150,548
Intangible fixed assets 10 502 1,176
Investments 11 5,006 5,006

Total Assets 3,098,682 1,630,748

Liabilities

Payables 12 45,343 58,940
Deferred revenue 13 1,234,436 221,947

Total Liabilities 1,279,779 280,887

Unrestricted fund balance 14 1,818,903 1,349,861

The fund’s financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to them and form
an integral part of these statements set out on pages 68 to 72.

Ognian Shentov
President

Center for the Study of Democracy
BALANCE SHEET AS AT  31 DECEMBER 1999
Financial statements



In BGN 1999
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Gross excess of revenue over expenditure 469,042)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 52,322)
Foreign exchange loss from revaluation assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currency (34,556)
Increase/(decrease) of provisions 20,873)

Cash flow from operating activities before changes 507,681)
in working capital 
(Increase)/decrease in assets from operating activities (642,482)
Increase/(decrease) liabilities from operating activities 1,035,805)

Cash flows from operating activities 901,004)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (473,411)

Net cash used in investing activities (473,411)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 427,593)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,153,411)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,581,004)

A comparative cashflow statement for the year ended 31 December 1998 is not presented due
to the fact that the financial statements for the period ended 31 December 1997 have not been
audited by KPMG Bulgaria.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1999
Financial statements



68

1. Significant accounting policies
(a) Activity background

Founded in late 1989, the Center for Study of Democracy (CSD) is an interdisciplinary public 
policy institute dedicated to the values of democracy and market economy. CSD is a non-partisan,
independent organization fostering the reform process in Bulgaria through impact on policy and
civil society.
CSD objectives are:
• to provide an enhanced institutional and policy capacity for a successful European Integration

process;
• to promote institutional reform and the practical implementation of democratic 

values in legal and economic practice;
• to monitor public attitudes and serve as well as to monitor the institutional reform process in

the country;
• to strengthen the institutional and management capacity of NGOs in Bulgaria, and reform the

legal framework for their operation.
CSD encourages an open dialogue between scholars and policy makers and promotes public-
private coalition building. As a full-service think tank, the Center achieves its objectives through
policy research, process monitoring, drafting of legislation, dissemination and advocacy activities,
building partnerships, local and international networks. 

(b) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been drawn up in conformity with International Accounting
Standards.  
Hyperinflation adjustments have been made in order to show the effect of inflation on the 
purchasing power of the equity interest.  This is achieved by stating the current year non 
monetary assets of the Center, which operated in a hyperinflationary economy in 1996 and 1997,
in terms comparable to the previous year balances of these items.
All items in the statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 31 December 1999 are
expressed in terms of the measuring unit current at 31 December 1999. 

(c) Foreign currencies
Monetary assets in foreign currencies have been revalued on a monthly basis as required by the
Accountancy Act. As a result foreign exchange differences have arisen. Other liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are carried at their historical values. The BNB official exchange
rates of the USD as at 31 December 1999 and the average for 1999 are 1.95 BGN/USD and
1.84 BGN/USD respectively.

(d) Property, plant and equipment
Tangible and intangible fixed were inflated for the year ended 31 December 1998 in accordance
with International Accounting Standard 29, Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies.
The monthly inflation indices as officially published by the National Institute of Statistics have
been used.  Since these are computed using the month of December of the previous year as a basis,
chain indices from the month of purchase to the end of the year under review, have been used to
measure the cumulative effect of inflation.
The tangible and the intangible fixed assets for the year ended 31 December 1999 have not been
inflated. Their inflated values as at 31 December 1998 have been depreciated using the straight line
method. The inflation rate for the twelve months ended 31 December 1999 of 6.2 % is considered
insignificant, and no restatement of the financial statements as of and for the year ended 31
December 1999 have been made. 

The rates of depreciation used are as follows:
Buildings 4%
Machinery and equipment 20%
Fixtures and fittings 25%
Vehicles 15%
Intangible assets 20%

(e) Investments
Investments classified as long-term assets which are not considered to be material as compared to
the overall balance sheet value of the CSD are carried at cost, less any amounts written off to 

Center for the Study of Democracy
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



recognise a decline in the value of the investment. As the subsidiaries perform economic activity
the investments in them are not included in the parent’s separate financial statements because if
included the statements will not give a true and fair presentation of the activity of the CSD. Due
to the above mentioned reason the investments have not been consolidated.

(f) Revenue recognition and expense reporting
The income of the Center for the study of democracy consists of funds extended by international
financing bodies for the completion of accepted projects.  The amounts are carried in the balance
sheet as deferred revenue at their historic values.  Every project is commenced with a signing of a
contract where the financing body determines the budget, payment instalments and the rates at
which expenses incurred in BGN are to be translated into the respective foreign currency. The
respective amount of BGN expenses are translated at the specified rate and an expense report in
foreign currency is produced. It is used to report on the progress of the project before the 
financing organization. These reports are prepared at a frequency determined by the contract for
the project assignment.
Revenue is recognised in the income and expenditure account on the basis of completed stage as 
reported by the SCD to the commissioning bodies. Revenue is recognised as income for the period to
match the related costs, on a systematic basis. Project contracts are denominated in foreign currency,
while the related expenses are incurred in BGN. Expenses as revalued in foreign currency correspond
to the revenues in the same foreign currency.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks. 

(h) Taxation
SCD is a non profit organization.  Therefore it has no tax liabilities. 
Deferred tax has not been incurred in the financial statements due to the fact that this tax could not
be levied on grants.

2. Revenue from grants, contributions and projects
In BGN 1999
IDLI 517,420)
ETF 197,906)
CE 103,276)
CIPE 98 40,441)
SOCO 35,341)
European Commission 97,469)
Santander group - Phare Democracy Program 50,533)
LMFI (Pension funds) 19,240)
World bank 28,956)
UNDP training 46,327)
Other projects 356,621)

1,493,530)

3. Expenses on grants, contributions and projects
In BGN 1999 1998
Salaries and benefits 411,213) 441,653)
Hired services 284,065) 344,010)
Depreciation 52,322) 66,651)
Supplies and consumable 44,141) 51,870)
Other expenses 324,828) 249,079)

1,116,569) 1,153,263)

4. Foreign exchange gains – net
In BGN 1999 1998
Exchange rate gains from operations 244,154) 224,604)
Exchange rate losses from operations (127,521) (138,405)

116,633) 86,199)
Differences on exchange rates have arisen in the cases when debtors, cash and creditors 
denominated in foreign currencies have been revalued on a monthly basis.
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5. Extraordinary income and expenses
In BGN 1999) 1998)
Extraordinary income 15) 34,768)
Extraordinary expenses (929) (1,598)
Write down of investment –) (229)

(914) 32,941)

6. Receivables)
In BGN 1999) 1998)
Completed Projects 49,257) 32,822)
Receivables from ARC Fund 75,613) 134,008)
Other receivables 44,459) 70,695)
Provision (20,873) –)

148,456) 237,525)

Since revenue and expenses on projects are matched on a yearly basis to conform with the 
accruals principle, receivables consisting of expenses incurred on fully completed projects, arise.

7. Cash and cach equivalents
In BGN 1999) 1998)
At bank 1,555,498) 1,107,152)
In local currency 9,042) 4,709)
In foreign currency 1,546,456) 1,102,443)
In hand 25,506) 46,259)
In local currency 9,877) 15,563)
In foreign currency 15,629) 30,696)

1,581,004) 1,153,411)

8. Defferred expenses
In BGN 1999) 1998)
CIPE’98 –) 39,837)
CIPE’99 72,562) –)
SOCO –) 9,651)
ETF –) 7,240)
Interrights 103) 103)
COLPI 8,756) 2,747)
CE edition –) 798)
OSF 356) 157)
Phare Democracy (Santander) 85,601) 22,549)
Coalition 2000 563,747) –)
McArthur Foundation 22,464) –)
European commission 35,797) –)
ICEG 1,853) –)

791,239) 83,082)

Since revenue and expenses on projects are matched on a yearly basis to conform with the accruals princi-
ple, deferred expenses consisting of expenses incurred on projects that have not been completed yet, arise.

9. Property, plant and equipment

In BGN Land Plant & Vehicles Fixtures & Assets in Total
equipmentin fittings construction

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 1999 – 158,502 184,484 101,918 – 444,904)
Additions 115,769 19,197 1,597 925 335,923 473,411)
Disposals
At 31 December 1999 115,769 177,699 186,081 102,843 335,923 918,315)
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Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 1999 78,330 130,214 85,812 294,356)
Disposals – – – –)
Charge for year 30,306 9,276 12,066 51,648)
At 31 December 1999 108,636 139,490 97,878 346,004)

Net book value as at
31 December 1999 115,769 69,063 46,591 4,965 335,924 572,311)
Net book value as at
31 December 1998 – 80,172 54,270 16,106 – 150,548)

10. Intangible fixed assets
In BGN Software Patents and licenses Total
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 1999 9,639 412 10,051
Additions
At 31 December 1999 9,639 412 10,051
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 1999 8,614 261 8,875
Charge for year 591 83 674
At 31 December 1999 9,205 344 9,549

Net book value as at 31 December 1999 434 68 502
Net book value as at 31 December 1998 1,025 151 1,176

11. Investments
In BGN 1999) 1998)
Agency Vitosha EOOD 5,006) 5,006)
Radio Vitosha 229) 229)
Provisions (229) (229)

5,006) 5,006)

Investments have not been consolidated. CSD is a not-profit organization but the subsidiaries 
perform economic activity. Thus if their separate financial statements are included in the parent’s 
separate financial statements, these will not give a true and fair presentation of the activity of the
CSD.

12. Payables
In BGN 1999) 1998)
Payables to the budget 17,377) 6,225)
Salaries, benefits and social security payable 7,145) 10,843)
Payables to suppliers –) 8,873)
Other payables 20,821) 32,999)

45,343) 58,940)

13. Deferred revenue
In BGN 1999) 1998)
For project activities 1,165,368) 167,188)
For fixed assets 69,068) 54,759)

1,234,436) 221,947)

14. Unrestricted fund balance
In BGN 1999) 1998)
Balance at 1 January 1999 1,349,861) 1,146,323)
Revaluation for the period –) 11,463)
Excess of revenue over expenditure for the year 469,042) 192,075)
Balance at 31 December 1999 1,818,903) 1,349,861)
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15. Related parties

Related party Nature of the related Transaction Outstanding balance
receivables party relationship during the year 31 December 1999

Agency Vitosha 100% of the capital none BGN 19,120.95
owned by CSD USD 2,007.00

Radio Vitosha Significant influence none BGN 504.43
USD 3,522.61
GBP 399.00

ARC Fund CSD and ARC Fund
are both represented by USD 38,838.00
the Chairman of the
Board of Trustees

Related party payables
Agency Vitosha 100% of the capital none USD 273.92

owned by CSD

16. Events subsequent to the balance sheet date

There have been no material changes or transactions subsequent to the balance sheet date that
require adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements prepared for the period ended 31
December 1999.

17. Contingencies

There are no contingencies to report on.

18. Reconciliation of IAS result
In BGN 1999)
Description
NAS result 511,895)
Write off of revaluation from 1997 (794)
Write off of statutory depreciation charge 31,136)
Depreciation charge on inflated assets (52,322)
Bad debt provisions (20,873)
IAS result 469,042)
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